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Additional Information

Descriptions in this report are qualified by refere to the contents of any contract, agreementha@r @locuments and are
not necessarily complete. Reference is made to ®aathcontract or document filed as an exhibihts teport, or previously
filed by the Company pursuant to regulations ofS$eeurities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC® (#em 15. Exhibits
and Financial Statement Schedules”).

References in this document to “us”, “we”, “ourthé Company”, or “the registrant” refer to ZIOPHARDhcology, Inc.
On September 13, 2005, our wholly-owned subsididl®, Acquisition Corp., merged with and into ZIOPRM, Inc. with
ZIOPHARM, Inc. remaining as the surviving corpooatiand our wholly-owned subsidiary. This transactoreferred to
throughout this report as the “Merger.” On Septenilze 2005, ZIOPHARM, Inc. merged with and into lesving us as the
surviving corporation. In connection with this patrsubsidiary merger, we relinquished our priopooate name, EasyWeb,
Inc., and assumed in its place the name “ZIOPHARM@ogy, Inc.” The parent-subsidiary merger and @a@imange became
effective on September 14, 2005. Unless providbdratise, references in this document to “us”, “weyr”, “the Company”,
or “the registrant” for periods prior to these saantions refer to ZIOPHARM, Inc. See “Business —fooate
Developments — Acquisition of ZIOPHARM, Inc.”

Special Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statem#rds are not historical, but are forward-lookingnature, including
statements regarding the expectations, beliefspiitns or strategies regarding the future. Inigaler, the discussion contained
in this report under the heading “Management’s 8son and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resaf Operation”
includes forward-looking statements that refleat current views with respect to future events andrfcial performance. We
use words such as we “expect,” “anticipate,” “bedig and “intend” and similar expressions to idgnforward-looking
statements. A number of important factors couldividually or in the aggregate, cause actual resoldiffer materially from
those expressed or implied in any forward-lookitegesnents. Such factors include, but are not liehite our ability to develop
successfully our product candidates, to obtainleggty approval for such product candidates ontmressfully commercialize
them, our ability to obtain additional financingirability to develop and maintain vendor relatioips, regulatory
developments relating to and the general successrgiroducts, and our ability to protect our pregry technology. Other
risks that may impact forward-looking statementstamed in this Annual Report on 10-K are describeder the heading
“Risk Factors.”

PART I
Item 1. Business

General

ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical camp that is seeking to develop and commercialidiverse, risk-
sensitive portfolio of in-licensed cancer drugs #rddress unmet medical needs. Our principal fixos the licensing and
development of proprietary small molecule drug ¢daies that are related to cancer therapeuticadyren the market or in
development and that can be developed in intrav@(ity”) and/or oral forms of administration. Wellve this strategy will
result in lower risk and expedited drug developnprograms with product candidates having a low obstanufacturing to
address changing reimbursement requirements athendorld. While we may commercialize our produmtsour own in
North America, we recognize that favorable clinigal results can be better addressed by partgpevith companies with the



requisite financial resources for the remaindethefdevelopment program and for commercializatiith partnering, the
Company could also negotiate the right to compdeteelopment and marketing in certain geographigicularly for certain
limited (niche) indications. Currently, we are ingse | and/or Il studies for three product candsl&entified as darinaparsin
(Zinapar™ , Z10-101), palifosfamide (Zymafod’ , ZI0-201), and indibulin (ZybulidM | Z10-301). Our most advanced
product candidate, IV palifosfamide, is currentiyai phase Il randomized controlled trial for treatment of metastatic or
unresectable soft tissue sarcoma as front- or selioa therapy in combination with doxorubicin (Aamycin ™ | Doxil ™)
and is presently the principal focus of our resesr&Ve expect that clinical development of an caplsule form of
palifosfamide that we have developed preclinicaliy occur pending our obtaining additional workiogpital from financing
alternatives or entering into a partnering arrangem
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Phase | studies with the oral capsule form of intiibadministered either by itself or in combinatiare nearing completion
while additional preclinical study of different dog schedules conducted with our consultant, Drryt Blorton, are nearing
completion. Although we view the commercial oppaity for oral indibulin as substantial, we haveopitized our projects in
what is a very challenging financial climate angeot that further clinical study of indibulin waimilarly be subject to our
obtaining additional financial resources or entgiiimto partnering arrangements. Consistent witlviptesly outlined plans, the
Company intends to partner the further clinicalelepment of darinaparsin (both IV and oral capsfdehematological
malignancies now that our exploratory phase lifilsrare almost completed. Our success in partgelaminaparsin will depend
on our final data, on general market competitivieditions, and on the availability of investmentitalpto potential partners or
other interested parties, and well as other faauatside of our control.

Our corporate office, which houses two full timep@ayees, is located at 1180 Avenue of the Amerit@#) Floor, New
York, NY 10036, and our telephone number is (646)-2700. Our main operations are located in BogWagsachusetts,
where we currently have 15 full time employees.

Cancer Overview

Cancer is a group of diseases characterized bgretie runaway growth of cells or the failure oi<eo die normally.
Often, cancer cells spread to distant parts obtidy, where they can form new tumors. Cancer ciae ar any organ of the
body and, according to the American Cancer Soc#ttikes one of every two American men and onevefyethree American
women at some point in their lives.

It is reported that there are more than 100 diffevarieties of cancer divided into six major categs. Carcinomas, the
most common type of cancer, originate in tissuastbver a surface or line a cavity of the bodyc8ma begins in tissue that
connects, supports or surrounds other tissues i@ath®. Lymphomas are cancers of the lymph systdrichws a circulatory
system that bathes and cleanses the body’s cell&kdmias involve blood-forming tissues and blodtscAs their name
indicates, brain tumors are cancers that begihdrbtain, and skin cancers, including melanomaginate in the skin. Cancers
are considered metastatic if they spread via thedbr lymphatic system to other parts of the bimdfprm secondary tumors.

Cancer is caused by a series of mutations (al&gtin genes that control cells’ ability to gromdadivide. Some mutations
are inherited; others arise from environmentaldecsuch as smoking or exposure to chemicals,tiadjar viruses that
damage cells’ DNA. The mutations cause cells taddivelentlessly or lose their normal ability te di

According to Cancer Statistics 2007 (published A1 Cancer Journal for Clinicians, vol. 57), it westimated that 559,650
Americans would die from cancer in 2007 — more th#&00 each day. The cost of treating cancer isfgignt. The National
Institute of Health estimates that the overall adstancer in 2006 was $206.3 billion. This cosfuded an estimate of $78.2
billion in direct medical expenses, $17.9 billianindirect morbidity costs, and $110.2 billion ndirect mortality costs.

Cancer Treatments

Major treatments for cancer include surgery, rddicapy, and chemotherapy; the latter including meypproaches
generally referred to as anti-angiogenic, vasatitsnuption or targeted therapies. There are maifigrdint drugs that are used to
treat cancer, including supportive care. While ¢hare also hundreds of experimental treatmentsrundestigation, we believe
cancer treatment will remain a significant unmetiinal need for the foreseeable future.

Radiotherapy: Also called radiation therapy, radiotherapy is tfteatment of cancer and other diseases withifaniz
radiation. lonizing radiation deposits energy ingires or destroys cells in the area being treftesltarget tissue) by damaging
their genetic material, making it impossible foesk cells to continue growing. Although radiati@méges both cancer cells



and normal cells, the latter are able to repaimelves and regain proper function. Radiotherapy Ineaused to treat
localized solid tumors such as cancers of the s&irgue, larynx, brain, breast, or uterine ceritigan also be used to treat
leukemia and lymphoma.
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Scientists are also looking for ways to increasedtfiectiveness of radiation therapy. Two typemweéstigational drugs are
being studied for their effect on cells exposedattiation. Radiosensitizers increase the damage tiotumor cells by
radiation; radioprotectors protect normal tissuemfthe effects of radiation.

Cytotoxics: Cytotoxics are anticancer drugs that destroy eacells by stopping them from multiplying. Healttwlls,
especially those that divide quickly, can also bared with the use of cytotoxics. Harm to healtélscis what causes side
effects. These cells usually repair themselves aftemotherapy and in many cases, newer agent®ffeaya greater
therapeutic window — the difference between a dbatis helpful and one that is toxic.

Cytotoxic agents act primarily by disrupting cedlupathways involved in maintaining cellular intiggincluding blood
supply, repair, or activity that affects the protime or function of DNA, RNA, or protein. Althoughere are many cytotoxic
agents, there is a considerable overlap in thedhaeisms of action. As such, the choice of a paercagent or group of agents
is generally not a consequence of a prior prediatibantitumor activity by the drug, but instead tiesult of empirical clinical
trials.

Supportive Care: The treatment of a cancer may include the usdemotherapy, radiation therapy, biologic response
modifiers, surgery, or some combination of allltége or other therapeutic options. All of thesatiment options are directed at
killing or eradicating the cancer that exists ipadient’'s body. Unfortunately, the delivery of margncer therapies adversely
affects the body’s normal organs. The undesired@guence of harming an organ not involved with eaixreferred to as a
complication of treatment or a side effect.

In addition to anemia, fatigue, hair-loss, reduttio blood platelets and white and red blood celfg] bone pain, two of the
most common side effects of chemotherapy are naarsg&omiting. Several drugs have been developédimprevent and
control chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomitirgiiding 5HT3 receptor antagonists such as ondammsethich is a
selective blocking agent of the hormone serotonin.

Product Candidates

Z10-101, Darinaparsin, Zinapar "™

General. Darinaparsin is a novel anti-mitochondrial ag@nganic arsenic) covered by issued U.S. paterdd.a8. and
international applications. A commercially avaikalthorganic arsenic (arsenic trioxide [Trisenox@]ATO”) has been
approved for the treatment of acute promyelocgikemia (“APL”). ATO is delivered intravenously (I\dnd has been studied
for the treatment of various other cancers. ATOlW&en shown to be toxic to the heart, nerves aed, livhich limits its use as
a broad anti-cancer agent. Our preclinical studexaonstrate that darinaparsin is considerablyttess than ATO, particularly
with regard to cardiac toxicity. In phase | anddbese Il clinical studies with both the IV and azapsule forms, darinaparsin
has been safely administered at exposures signiljchigher than are approved for IV Trisenox®, fioning preclinical
findings.

In vitro testing of darinaparsin using the National Cannstitute’s human cancer cell panel detected agtagginst cell
lines derived from multiple cancers including lueglon, brain, melanoma, ovarian, and kidney caridederate activity was
detected against breast and prostate cancer. iticadit cell lines derived from solid tumoiig, vitro testing in both the
National Cancer Institute’s cancer cell panel Bndvotesting in a leukemia animal model demonstratedtsuiial activity
against hematological cancers (cancers of the oddblood-forming tissues) such as leukemia, Iyonpd, myelodysplastic
syndromes, and multiple myeloma. In addition, daparsin has potent anti-angiogenic activity as destrated irin vitro as
well asin vivo studies.

In a murine leukemia model, darinaparsin demoreddratal activity comparable to that achieved witstsmic
administration. Subsequent pharmacokinetic studidegs established oral bioavailability compardblé/ administration.
Oral administration of an effective cancer drug ldaallow prolonged and potentially more effectivesthg regimens.
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Potential Lead Indication: LymphomaThree phase Il intravenous studies of darinapagaluating hematological
malignancies, myeloma and liver cancer, are almostpleted. Data from these trials have been reggttie most promising
being in lymphomas.

Clinical Development Plan for darinaparsinlV administered darinaparsin safety, pharmacdidagand drug activity has
been evaluated in phase | studies. In phase lystatinaparsin is active in both Hodgkin’s and 4ttwdgkin’s lymphoma. The
Company has concluded that further study in certaimHodgkin’s lymphoma, particularly peripherat&H lymphoma, is
warranted and plans to pursue this study only wgrdaring into partnering arrangements or obtaimisditional capital from
other similar outside sources.

In addition, an oral darinaparsin phase | programeiaring completion in both solid tumors and helogical malignancies
with the expected toxicity profile seen with thératvenous form and with early evidence of activiithough the Company
would, following the aforementioned partnering thar financial arrangement, recommend further stuitly the IV form
initially, advancing the oral program based onghamise of use in solid tumors would likely follow.

The Company is actively seeking one or more pastrarother sources of funding, to progress thandparsin program into
expanded phase Il study and particularly certabitgpes of non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. If we cannotfia partner to fund the
development of either one or both forms of darimsipaor obtain other funding that allows us togaed on our own, we plan
to complete the ongoing studies which are includatie Company’s current estimate of expenses laewl temporarily
discontinue the development program for darinaparsi

Z10-201, Palifosfamide, Zymafos ™

General. Palifosfamide, or isophosphoramide mustard (“I[)NE a proprietary active metabolite of the progir
ifosfamide. A number of patent applications haverbgled in the U.S. and internationally. Ifosfamjcs well as the related
drug cyclophosphamide, are alkylating agents. (yladsphamide is believed to be the most widely agght in cancer
therapy. Ifosfamide has been shown to be effectiveégh doses by itself, or in combination witheatlagents, in treating
sarcoma and lymphoma and it is approved in the 1dr3he treatment of testicular cancer. Althoufgisfamide-based treatment
generally represents the standard of care for saaci is not licensed for this indication by theSUFood and Drug
Administration.

Our preclinical studies have shown that, in aniaral laboratory models, palifosfamide evidencesiigtagainst leukemia
and solid tumors. These studies also indicatephifiosfamide has a better pharmacokinetic andysaf®file than ifosfamide
or cyclophosphamide, offering the possibility ofeseand more efficacious therapy.

In addition to IPM, other metabolites of ifosfamiaiee produced including acrolein, which is toxidhe kidneys and
bladder. The presence of acrolein mandates thergstraition of a protective agent called mesna, tvisdnconvenient to use
and expensive. Chloroacetaldehyde, another metatadlifosfamide, is toxic to the central nervoystem, causing “fuzzy
brain” syndrome for which there is currently notexiive measure. Similar toxicity concerns pertaihigh-dose
cyclophosphamide, which is widely used in bone marand blood cell transplantation. Because palfioséle is the active
metabolite — without acrolein or chloroacetaldehyugtabolites — the Company believes that the adnation of
palifosfamide (without the administration of mesnay avoid many of the toxicities of ifosfamide laut compromising
efficacy.

In addition to anticipated lower toxicity, palif@shide may have other advantages over ifosfamidegacidphosphamide.
Palifosfamide cross-links DNA differently than thetive metabolite of cyclophosphamide, resulting itifferent activity
profile. Moreover, in some preclinical studies,ifesfamide shows activity in cisplatin-, ifosfamidend/or cyclophosphamide-
resistant cancer cells. In xenografts of humandtreancer and in a mouse leukemia model, palifasfatmas anti-tumor
activity when administered orally, which is a pdtahadditional advantage over ifosfamide and cghlmsphamide.

Potential Lead Indication for palifosfamide: SarcamSarcomas are cancers of the bone, cartilagentaicle, blood
vessels, or other connective or supportive tisEbhere are more than 50 histological or tissue tyfe®ft tissue sarcomas. The
prognosis for patients with soft tissue sarcomamedds on several factors, including the patiergés size of the primary
tumor, histological grade, and stage of the turRactors
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associated with a poorer prognosis include beidgrahan 60 years of age, having tumors larger filvarcentimeters, and
having tumors of high-grade histology. While smialy-grade tumors are usually curable by surgemyal the higher-grade or
larger sarcomas are associated with higher loeatrivent failure rates and increased metastatinpate

Palifosfamide may be a useful agent that, eithemeabr in combination with other agents, may deltherapeutic activity
with fewer side effects of the type that have bassociated with ifosfamide. In the United Statiesfamide is regularly
included in combination regimens for the treatnedfrdarcomas, testicular cancers, head and necleigarertain types of non-
Hodgkin’s lymphomas, and other solid tumors. ThenBany believes that palifosfamide may be able ptace ifosfamide in
any or all of these combination protocols.

Clinical Development Plan for palifosfamideThe phase | studies of IV palifosfamide (solichturs and advanced sarcoma)
have been completed. In both of these trials, geflifmide was given without mesna and no treatneated hemorrhagic
cystitis or CNS-toxicity was reported. Bone marnmxicity was modest and the dose-limiting toxiaitgs renal toxicity. One
subject with mesothelioma had stable disease foeti@an 13 months and two patients with sarcomaahr@dponse of stable
disease or better.

A 50 patient phase Il trial in advanced sarcon@ispleted. Interim data from the study were repbirtethe fourth quarter
of 2007 and updated near-final data in the foudtrtgr of 2008. The trial indicated that palifosfdenwas well tolerated, with
renal toxicity being the most clinically relevamvarse event (a different stabilizing agent regeinitorporated in the
palifosfamide finished dosage form has not eviddrtbat renal toxicity to date). This study confiitbat IV palifosfamide is
an active agent when used as a single agent imaddasarcoma and the data therefore warrantedefusthdy toward a
registration pathway.

The Company then initiated a Phase | study in whithalifosfamide is administered in combinatiortivioxorubicin,
which is the most commonly used agent and comhindtir treating sarcoma, and palifosfamide eviddrmmsiderable
synergy with doxorubicin in preclinical study. Wighcombination dose established in that still ongaitudy and with evidence
of considerable activity, and an unchanged safedfile, all as reported in the fourth quarter 0080the Company initiated a
Phase Il randomized controlled trial to compareattoRicin plus palifosfamide to doxorubicin alonepiatients with front- and
second-line metastatic or unresectable soft tisabgoma. The analysis of initial data from patiemtsolled in this trial are
expected to shape a Phase lll trial in the santimgdor initiation as early as the first half dd20. The Company has also
developed an oral capsule form of palifosfamide tested favorably preclinically and, subject tdadhing additional financial
resources or entering into partnering arrangemenéexpected to be studied clinically. Importan@rphan Drug Designation
for palifosfamide has been obtained in both thetdthStates and the European Union for the treatofestft tissue sarcomas.

Z10-301, Indibulin, Zybulin ™

General.Indibulin is a novel small molecular-weight tubuppnlymerization inhibitor that was acquired fromxB=
Healthcare. The microtubule component, tubulicuigently one of the best established anti-tum@ets available for the
treatment of cancer. A number of other tubulin-¢dirgg drugs available only IV in the United Stades currently on the market,
including paclitaxel (Taxol® ) andinca alkaloidgvincristine, vinorelbine) and the epothilone Iexaa™ . The use of these
drugs is associated with important toxicities, bbtaeripheral neuropathy. By contrast, no periphaeurotoxicity has been
observed to date with indibulin administrationheitin preclinical testing or in phase | clinicasting. In addition, its activity as
an oral formulation could offer significant advaggaand convenience to patients, since no oral tafmumulations of
paclitaxel or related compounds have been develtpedfar in the United States.

Indibulin has a different pharmacological profiterh other tubulin inhibitors currently on the marks it binds to a unique
site on tubulin and is active in multi-drug-resigt@MDR-1, MRP-1) and taxane-resistant tumors.botih binding causes
destabilization of microtubulés vitro , an effect similar to that of the vinca alkalo@fily or colchicine, but opposite to that of
paclitaxel and related drugs and different fromehethilones.

Testing of indibulin foiin vitro growth inhibitory activity against a panel of humemd rodent tumor-derived cell lines
revealed that the drug candidate is active in adspectrum of cell lines derived from
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different organsln vivo, indibulin is active in a number of xenograft andent tumor models. Its unique pharmacodynamic
properties demonstrated in preclinical studiesyelsas an excellent safety profile observed ttausrf ongoing phase | studies,
warrant further evaluation in the clinic.



Clinical Development Plan for Indibulihe phase | program with indibulin is evaluatinfesg pharmacokinetics (“PK”),
pharmacodynamics, biomarkers, maximum toleratee ¢®4TD"”), and dose limiting toxicity (“DLT") in p&ents with
advanced solid tumors; these trials are nearingotetion and MTD has not yet been reached. Indibigliwell tolerated and
clinical activity has been observed in patientdwgiéveral histologic subtypes. Preclinical comlamstudies demonstrated
synergy with erlotinib, docetaxel, and capecitatzind Phase | studies were initiated and are neariagm conclusion in
combination with erlotinib and capecitabine. Prgickl work with our consultant Dr. Larry Norton éaplore dosing schedules
is nearing completion with the intent of proceediogstablish a maximum tolerated dose using adsdédrom preclinical
study in further Phase Il clinical study as furtherding becomes available.

Competition

The development and commercialization for new petslto treat cancer is highly competitive, and abersble
competition from major pharmaceutical, biotechngloand specialty cancer companies is anticipatexhyMbf our competitors
have access to substantially more resources thatoyiacluding both financial and technical. In #ighth, many of these
companies have more experience in preclinical #éinttal development, manufacturing, regulatory, gabal
commercialization. The Company is also competintp@cademic institutions, governmental agencied, mivate
organizations that are conducting research inigié 6f cancer. Competition for highly qualified plnyees and their retention
is intense, particularly as companies adjust tactireent economic environment.

Other treatments for cancer that compete with oodyct candidates are summarized under the cafiancer
Treatments.”

License Agreements and I ntellectual Property

Our goal is to obtain, maintain, and enforce papeatection for our products, formulations, proesssnethods, and other
proprietary technologies in order to preserve canlé secrets and to operate without infringing uib@nproprietary rights of
other parties, both in the United States and iemotiountries. Our policy is to actively seek thedatest possible intellectual
property protection for our product candidates tigtoa combination of contractual arrangements atengts, both in the United
States and abroad.

Patent and Technology License Agreement — Uniyaskitexas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center and thag &&M
University System.On August 24, 2004, the Company entered intoterf®and Technology License Agreement with The
Board of Regents of the University of Texas Systaoiing on behalf of The University of Texas M.Ahderson Cancer Center
and the Texas A&M University System (collectivetlye “Licensors”). Under this agreement, the Compaayg granted an
exclusive, worldwide license to rights (includirights to U.S. and foreign patent and patent apipica and related
improvements and know-how) for the manufacture @mmercialization of two classes of organic arsasifor human and
animal use. One of these classes includes darisiapar

In October 2004, we received a notice of allowafocd).S. Patent Application No. 10/337969, entitt€ddimethylarsino-
thiosuccinic acid S-dimethylarsino-2-thiobenzoi@as-(dimethylarsino) glutathione as treatmentscmcer.” The patent was
granted on June 28, 2005 as U.S. Patent No. 6,B1L1The patent claims both therapeutic uses andratzutical
compositions containing a novel class of organsenicals, including darinaparsin, for the treatmedrdancer. In February
2006, we announced a second organic arsenic pghtgnvas issued under U.S. Patent No. 6,995,188.pktent provides
further coverage of cancer treatment using orgarsenic, including darinaparsin, in combinationhwather agents or therapies.
On July 29, 2008, an additional organic arsenieqatvas issued under U.S. Patent No. 7,405,31¥¢iding further coverage of
cancer treatment using organic arsenic, includigbér purity darinaparsin. Currently there are esponding foreign
applications relating to darinaparsin in variousefgn countries

As patrtial consideration for the license rightsaiméd by us, we paid the Licensors an upfront, eftimdable $125,000 fee
and issued 250,487 shares of our common stockedJHiversity of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Cerdad granted it an
option to purchase an additional 50,222 sharesioEommon
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stock for $0.002 per share. The option vested @cdre exercisable with respect to 25% of its shggea the Company’s
filing of an Investigational New Drug (“IND”) in #hfiscal year ended December 31, 2005. During &a& gnded December 31,
2007, an additional 50% of the option vested arwhivee exercisable upon completion of the dosing®fast patient for both
the blood and solid tumor phase | trials for dgperain. We recorded a $120,492 stock compensatipense in connection



with vesting of 25,111 of the options granted alasif the Company’s 2003 Stock Option Plan. Theaiader of the option

will vest and become exercisable with respect & 286 the shares upon enroliment of the first patierm multi-center pivotal
clinical trial (i.e., a human clinical trial inteed to provide the substantial evidence of efficaggessary to support the filing of
an approvable New Drug Application (“NDA”) for dagparsin). As additional consideration for ther®e, the Licensors are
entitled to receive up to an aggregate of $4.8%aniin cash payments, payable in varying amoumnten the achievement of
certain milestones, including $100,000 that we pgidn the commencement of the phase | clinicdlforadarinaparsin in May
2005 and $250,000 upon the dosing of the firsiepain the Registrant-sponsored phase Il clinidal for darinaparsin in
November 2006. The Licensors are entitled to recedyalty payments from sales of a licensed pro¢kretuld such a product
be approved for commercial sale), as well and &@oof any fees that we may receive from a subkee under certain
circumstances. Finally, the license agreement gezlithat we enter into two separate sponsoredrdsagreements with the
Licensors, each of which required that we make ahpayments of $100,000 for no less than two y&diewving the contract’s
execution. We have the exclusive right to all iletetual property rights resulting from such reshgrarsuant to the terms of the
agreements. These sponsored research agreemetsyaredated extensions expired on February 2008.

The agreement also contains other provisions tieat@stomary and common to similar agreements mithé industry, such
as our right to sublicense our rights under theagent. Nevertheless, if we sublicense our rigtits o the commencement of
a pivotal clinical trial (i.e., a human clinicalatintended to provide the substantial evidenceffifacy necessary to support the
filing of an approvable NDA), the Licensors willigerally be entitled to receive a share of the paymwe receive in exchange
for the sublicense (subject to certain exceptions).

License Agreement with DEKK-Tec, I@n October 15, 2004, we entered into a licenseeageat with DEKK-Tec, Inc.,
pursuant to which we were granted an exclusive|dmode license to the second of our lead produntimates, palifosfamide.
The licensed patent estate includes two pendingedi8tates patent applications and numerous forgEignterparts.

As partial consideration for the license rightsadeéd by us, we paid DEKK-Tec an upfront, non-refainie $50,000 fee. In
addition, DEKK-Tec is entitled to receive cash payts in an aggregate amount of up to $3.9 millamich are payable in
varying amounts upon the occurrence of certainstulee events. The majority of these milestone paysneill be creditable
against future royalty payments, as referencedibdburing the year ended December 31, 2006, thefaomrecorded a
charge of $100,000 for achieving phase Il milessoifée also issued DEKK-Tec an option to purchas®®Y,616 shares of
our common stock for approximately $0.02 per shafrevhich 6,904 shares vested upon the executigheoficense agreement.
DEKK-Tec has since exercised the vested porticdh@bption in its entirety. The option will vesttivirespect to the remaining
shares upon certain milestone events, culminatitiy fimal FDA approval of the first NDA submitted/tus (or by our
sublicensee) for palifosfamide. DEKK-Tec is enttl® receive royalty payments on the sales of gsiifmide should it be
approved for commercial sale. The license agreealsatcontains other provisions customary and commaimilar
agreements within the industry.

Option and Research Agreements with Southern Resdastitute. On December 22, 2004, we entered into an Option
Agreement with Southern Research Institute (“SRit)rsuant to which we were granted an exclusivepgb obtain an
exclusive license to SRI's interest in certain lietstual property, including exclusive rights redtto certain isophosphoramide
mustard analogs. Also on December 22, 2004, weeshinto a Research Agreement with SRI pursuamnthich we agreed to
spend a sum not to exceed $200,000 between theteof the agreement and December 21, 2006, dirodua $25,000
payment that we made simultaneously with the exacwuf the agreement, to fund research and devedopmork by SRI in
the field of isophosphoramide mustard analogs.dpt®n agreement was exercised on February 13, 2007he exclusively
licensed patent estate includes one U.S. pateBt Rhatent No. 6,197,760) and two foreign
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patents as well as corresponding patent applicafiodapan and Canada. An annual payment of $25@880nade in 2008 and
2007 for maintenance of this option agreement.

Asset Purchase of Indibulin from Baxter Healthc@@poration. On November 3, 2006, the Company signed a diknit
Asset Purchase Agreement and License Agreemestjtora indibulin (and license rights to nanosuspengchnology) from
affiliates of Baxter Healthcare Corporation. Therte of the agreement include an upfront cash paywofeapproximately
$1.125 million, which has been expensed as purch@search and development. In the year ended Dxaredi, 2006,
$15,000 was paid for annual patent and licenseter@mce fee, and $100,000 was paid for existingrtory. In addition to the
upfront payments, there will be follow-on milestarash payments that could amount to approxima@iyiflion in the
aggregate and royalties on net sales typical abduyzt at this stage of development. During the yealed December 31, 2007,
we paid $625,000 in milestone payments for theesgfal U.S. Investigational New Drug (“IND”) apgiton for indibulin.



Additionally, we paid $15,000 for the annual patend license maintenance fee in the years endicgmbeer 31, 2008 and
2007. The purchase price includes the entire idutitiotellectual property portfolio as well as etkigy drug substance and
capsule inventories.

The patent estate related to indibulin currentiuides one U.S. patent (U.S. Patent No. 6,008,23d eighteen (18)
foreign patents that cover the indibulin molecale well as numerous corresponding pending forgigtiGations. In addition,
there are three U.S. Patents (U.S. Patent Nos2 823, 6,693,119 and 7,452,910) and thirty-one {8®ign patents covering
methods of using indibulin as a cancer therapeasiayell as three pending U.S. and numerous camelipg pending foreign
applications.

Other Intellectual Property Rights and ProtectioWVe depend upon the skills, knowledge, and expeei®f our scientific
and technical personnel, as well as those of ouisars, consultants, and other contractors, novehach is patentable. To help
protect proprietary know-how, which is not pateiigalnd for inventions for which patents may bédilt to enforce, we
currently rely, and in the future will continuerly, on trade secret protection and confidenyiagreements to protect our
interests. To this end, we generally require emgxsy consultants, advisors and other contractastey into confidentiality
agreements that prohibit the disclosure of confidéimformation and, where applicable, requirectisure and assignment to
us of the ideas, developments, discoveries andiiores important to our business.

Collaboration agreement with Harmon Hill, LLCOn April 8, 2008, the Company signed a collatioraaigreement for
Harmon Hill, LLC to provide consulting and otherdees related to the Company’s development andweruialization of
oncology therapeutics. The initial term of the @gnent is one year and may be renewed or extendeterlthe agreement, the
Company pays Harmon Hill $20,000 per month fordbesulting services. In addition, under the agregni{a) the Company
agreed to pay Harmon Hill $500,000 upon the fiettemt dosing of the Specified Drug in a pivotaltrwhich trial uses a
dosing regime introduced by Harmon Hill; and (b)yaded that the Specified Drug receives regulaggpgroval from the FDA,
the EMEA or another regulatory agency for the mimnkeof the Specified Drug, Harmon Hill will be éfed to a royalty equal
to one percent of the Company’s net sales fronSthexrified Drug. Harmon Hill will be entitled to i&ge one percent of
royalties received from a sublicensee in the etlemSpecified Drug is sublicensed. During the yarated December 31, 2008,
the Company paid Harmon Hill $180,000 for consgitservices per aforementioned contract. No milestdrave been reached
or accrued during the year ending December 31,.2008

Governmental Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufactuvelifey, promotion, advertising, distribution, andnketing, among other
things, of our products are extensively regulategdvernmental authorities in the United States@her countries. In the
United States, the FDA regulates drugs under tlefaé Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) and itmplementing
regulations. Failure to comply with the applicablé. requirements may subject us to administrathjedicial sanctions, such
as FDA refusal to approve pending New Drug Applaa (“NDAs”), warning letters, product recallsppluct seizures, total or
partial suspension of production or distributiarjunctions, and/or criminal prosecution.
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Drug Approval Process.None of our drugs may be marketed in the U.SI thet drug has received FDA approval. The
steps required before a drug may be marketed iViBeinclude:

e Preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies, fmthulation studies;

e Submission to the FDA of an IND for human clifitesting, which must become effective before hurmianical trials
may begin;

« Adequate and well-controlled human clinical sitd establish the safety and efficacy of the dougeach indication;
e Submission to the FDA of an NDA;

e Satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection leé imanufacturing facility or facilities at whichetlilrug is produced to
assess compliance with current good manufacturiagtiges, or “cGMPs”; and

e FDA review and approval of the NDA.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatiopadduct chemistry, toxicity, and formulation, aslvees animal studies. The
conduct of the preclinical tests and formulatiortt@f compounds for testing must comply with fedeggllations and
requirements. The results of the preclinical tesigether with manufacturing information and anabjtdata, are submitted to



the FDA as part of an IND Application, which musicbme effective before human clinical trials magibeAn IND
automatically takes effect 30 days after receiptieyFDA, unless before that time the FDA raisdstgaoncerns or questions
about issues such as the design of the trialstfisexnlin the IND. In such a case, the IND sporeud the FDA must resolve
any outstanding FDA concerns or questions befangcal trials may proceed. The Company cannot w&agethat submission
of an IND will result in the FDA allowing a clinit#rial(s) to be initiated.

Clinical trials involve the administration of arviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigien of qualified
investigators. Clinical trials are conducted acawgdo protocols that detail the study objectivtbg, parameters to be used in
monitoring participants’ safety, and the effectigss criteria by which the investigational drug Wil evaluated. Each protocol
must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in threegjgential phases, but the phases may overlap. Ty ptotocol and
informed consent information for study subjectsiiclinical trial must also be approved by an Insitinal Review Board for
each institution where the trial will be conduct&tudy subjects must sign an informed consent togfore participating in a
clinical trial. Phase | usually involves the initiatroduction of the investigational drug into e to evaluate its short-term
safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism, pharmacad$neind pharmacologic actions and, if possiblgaio an early indication
of its effectiveness. Phase Il usually involveal&in a limited patient population in order to €ijaluate dosage tolerance and
appropriate dosage; (2) identify possible adveffeets and safety risks; and (3) evaluate prelimipahe efficacy of the drug
for specific indications. Phase Il trials usuatiyntinue to evaluate clinical efficacy and furtkest for safety by using the drug
in its final form in an expanded patient populati®here can be no assurance that phase |, phagephase Il testing will be
completed successfully within any specified peabtime, if at all. Furthermore, the sponsoring gamy or the FDA may
suspend clinical trials at any time on various g including a finding that the subjects or paere being exposed to an
unacceptable health risk.

The FDCA permits the FDA and the IND sponsor taeagn writing on the design and size of clinicaldsés intended to
form the primary basis of a claim of effectiveneasan NDA application. This process is known ascsdd’rotocol Assessment
(“SPA”") and can be a somewhat lengthy process.gkaeanent may not be changed by the sponsor or Fi@Athe trial
beginsexcept(1) with the written agreement of the sponsor d&edRDA, or (2) if the director of the FDA reviewidivision
determines that “a substantial scientific issueesal to determining the safety or effectivenesthe drug” was identified after
the testing began.

Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdintesting, the results of the preclinical stedid of the clinical
studies, together with other detailed informatiocjuding information on the manufacture and conitfms of the drug, are
submitted to the FDA in the form of an NDA requegtapproval to market the product for one or modidations. The testing
and approval process requires substantial timertetind
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financial resources. The FDA reviews the applicadod may deem it to be inadequate to supportdistration, and
companies cannot be sure that any approval wifirbated on a timely basis, if at all. The FDA mégoaefer the application to
the appropriate advisory committee, typically aglanf clinicians, for review, evaluation and a reocnendation as to whether
the application should be approved. The FDA ishmatnd by the recommendations of the advisory cotamit

The NDA application is the vehicle through whickéstigational drug sponsors formally propose thatRDA approve a
new pharmaceutical agent to be marketed and sdlekit).S. The data gathered during the animal etualind human clinical
trials of an IND become part of the NDA. The goaflshe NDA are to provide enough information torpér=DA to reach the
following key decisions:

« Is the drug safe and effective in its proposes{s)s and do the benefits of the drug outweighrities?
* Is the drug’s proposed labeling (package inserppropriate, and what it should contain?

« Are the methods used in manufacturing the druytha controls used to maintain the dsiguality adequate to prese
the drug'’s identity, strength, quality, and purity?

The FDA has various programs including Exploraidtips (also referred to as “phase 0”), orphan dfagt track, priority
review, and accelerated approval, which are intéridexpedite or simplify the process for develgpamd reviewing drugs,
and/or provide for approval on the basis surrogatipoints, or provide financial incentives and neaekclusivity. Generally,
drugs that may be eligible for one or more of thesgrams are those for serious or life-threatecmditions, those with the
potential to address unmet medical needs, and thas@rovide meaningful benefit over existing tneents. A company cannot



be certain that any of its investigational drugh gualify for any of these programs, or that, iflaig does qualify, the
review time will be reduced.

Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA allows the FDA to ep a follow-on drug on the basis of data in tbiergtific literature or
a prior FDA approval of an NDA for a related dr@pecifically, a 505(b)(2) application is one forialhone or more of the
investigations relied upon by the applicant forrmappl were not conducted by or for the applicant] or which the applicant
has not obtained a right of reference or use fioerperson by or for whom the investigations werdeated. A 505(b)(2)
application may be submitted for a new drug proautotn some part of the data necessary for appesealerived from studies
not conducted by or for the applicant and to whiehapplicant has not obtained a right of refereRoe a new drug, these data
are likely to be derived from published studiefeathan FDA'’s previous finding of safety and effeeness of a drug. For
changes to a previously approved drug productpatication may rely on the Agency'’s finding of sgfand effectiveness of
the previously approved product, coupled with tiferimation needed to support the change from tipeoaed product. The
additional information could be new studies condddty the applicant or published data. This useezfion 505(b)(2),
described in the regulations at 21 CFR 314.54,intasded to encourage innovation without creatinpglidate work, and
reflects the principle that it is wasteful and ucesary to carry out studies to demonstrate whedtéady known about a drug.
This procedure potentially makes it easier for gendrug manufacturers to obtain rapid approvat@fv forms of drugs based
on proprietary data of the original drug manufagtur

Before approving an NDA, the FDA usually will ingpehe facility or the facilities at which the driggmanufactured and
will not approve the product unless Good ManufaontuPractice (“cGMP”) compliance is satisfactorfytie FDA evaluates the
NDA and the manufacturing facilities as acceptatiie,FDA may issue an approval letter, or in maages, an approvable letter
followed by an approval letter. Both letters usyathntain a number of conditions that must be meftrder to secure final
approval of the NDA. When and if those conditioasd met with the FDA's satisfaction, the FDA wikue an approval letter.
The approval letter authorizes commercial marketifithe drug for specific indications. As a conalitiof NDA approval, the
FDA may require post-marketing testing and suraeitke to monitor the drug’s safety or efficacy,mpose other conditions.

After approval, certain changes to the approved gnoduct, such as adding new indications, iniitertain
manufacturing changes, or making certain addititatadling claims, are subject to further FDA reviemd approval. Before a
company can market a drug product for any additiomthcation(s), it must obtain
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additional approval from FDA. Obtaining approval fonew indication generally requires that addaiaciinical studies be
conducted. A company cannot be sure that any additapproval for new indications for any produandidate will be
approved on a timely basis, or at all.

Post-approval RequirementsOften times, even after a drug has been apprbydke FDA for sale, the FDA may require
that certain post-approval requirements be satisiiecluding the conduct of additional clinical dies. If such post-approval
conditions are not satisfied, the FDA may withditsapproval of the drug. In addition, holders nfegpproved NDA are
required to: (1) report certain adverse reactiorthé FDA; (2) comply with certain requirements ceming advertising and
promotional labeling for their products; and (3ptioue to have quality control and manufacturinggedures conform to
cGMP. The FDA periodically inspects the sponsogcords relating to safety reporting and/or manuiéeg facilities; this
latter effort includes assessment of cGMP compéaiAccordingly, manufacturers must continue to exiggme, money, and
effort in the area of production and quality cohtoomaintain cGMP compliance. We intend to usedthparty manufacturers to
produce our products in clinical and commercialrgiti#s, and future FDA inspections may identifymqaiance issues at the
facilities of our contract manufacturers that mésrubt production or distribution, or require swgrgtal resources to correct. In
addition, discovery of problems with a product afipproval may result in restrictions on a prodownufacturer, or holder of
an approved NDA, including withdrawal of the protfrom the market.

Employees

As of the date of this report, the Company hasullzime and 3 part time employees.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock is very risky. I n addition to the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, you should consider carefully the following risk factorsin evaluating usand our business. I f any of the events described in
the following risk factorswere to occur, our business, financial condition, results of operation and future growth prospects
would likely be materially and adversely affected. I n that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you
could lose all or a part of your investment in @ammon stockl herefore, we urge you to carefully review this entire 10-K
and consider therisk factors discussed below. Moreover, the risks described below are not the @mles that we face.
Additional risks not presently known to us or that currently deem immaterial may also affect owsibess, financial
condition, operating results or prospects.

Risks Related to our Business

If we do not succeed in raising additional fundsacneptable terms or if we cannot successfullyrénte partnership
agreements for the further development of our petejwve will be unable to continue our planned lme@l and clinical trials
or obtain approval for any of our product candiddtem the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesatidition, we could be
forced to discontinue product development, reduderego sales and marketing efforts and foregmaetitve business
opportunities. In the event that we are unableotttinue as a going concern, we may be forced teeceperations altogether or
may elect or be required to seek protection fromcoeditors by filing a voluntary petition in banigtcy or may be subject to an
involuntary petition in bankruptcy.

We believe we have sufficient capital to continneodling patients in our ongoing randomized phdgaadl for
palifosfamide as we are currently seeking a patméund the development of darinaparsin and wepdeta our current trials
with indibulin. Further work with indibulin is ongag preclinically and will be further extended ctially if we are able to
obtain sufficient additional capital. If we are bfato obtain sufficient additional capital, thegram will be placed on hold. If
we cannot find a partner to fund the developmemtasinaparsin, we intend to discontinue its develept following the
completion of ongoing trials. We are currently diéwvg a significant portion of our resources to tlevelopment of
palifosfamide. Accordingly, the resources that wedevoting to the development of indibulin andinkgparsin have
significantly diminished. As a result, further pregs with the development of darinaparsin and urddibif any, may be
significantly delayed and may depend on the suagksar ongoing clinical trials involving palifosfade.

We may not be able to commercialize any products, generate significant revenues, or attain profitability.

We have never generated revenue and have incugrficant net losses in each year since our irioapfor the year
ended December 31, 2008, we had a net loss of $2i8i@n and we had incurred approximately $85.0iom of cumulative
net losses since our inception in 2003. We exmecbhtinue to incur significant operating and calpéixpenditures. Although
we have taken near-term cost cutting measures aitneebserving capital while we pursue sourceténtial additional
financing, further development of our product caiadks will likely require substantial increasesim expenses in the future as
we:

» Continue to undertake preclinical development @imdcal trials for product candidates;
»  Scale-up the formulation and manufacturing of praduct candidates;

»  Seek regulatory approvals for product candidates;

* Implement additional internal systems and infiactuire; and

» Hire additional personnel.

Even if we succeed in developing and commercializine or more of our product candidates, for wisistcess is not
assured, we may not be able to generate signifieaenues. If we do generate significant reverwesnay never achieve or
maintain profitability. Our failure to achieve ommtain profitability could negatively impact thading price of our common
stock.
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If we are not able to successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates, we may not generate sufficient revenues



to continue our business operations.

To date, none of our product candidates have bgeroeed for commercial sale in any country. Thecpes to develop,
obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialinéeptial drug candidates is long, complex, andlgobinless and until we
receive approval from the FDA and/or other regulatuthorities for our product candidates, we casetl our drugs and will
not have product revenues. Even if we obtain régofaapproval for one or more of our product caathkg, if we are unable to
successfully commercialize our products, we maybeodble to generate sufficient revenues to coatour business without
raising significant additional capital, which magtibe available.

We may need to raise additional capital to fund our operations. The manner in which we raise any additional funds may
affect the value of your investment in our common stock.

As of December 31, 2008, we had incurred approxiyai85.0 million of cumulative net losses and bagroximately
$11.4 million of cash, cash equivalents, and stearty investments. Currently and anticipating addiil reductions in expense
with no additional capital, we anticipate that widl nave sufficient cash to fund our operationsnpipally related to the
development of palifosfamide, late into the secgundrter of 2010. However, changes may occur thaldvwonsume our
existing capital prior to that time, including theogress of our research and development effdimges in governmental
regulation, and acquisitions of additional prodeemdidates.

Currently, we have no committed sources of additi@apital. We do not know whether additional fioag will be
available on terms favorable or acceptable to usnwieeded, if at all. Our business is highly casérisive and our ability to
continue operations after our current cash ressuaoe exhausted depends on our ability to obtaditiadal financing and
achieve profitable operations, as to which no asstes can be given.

Recently, capital markets have experienced a pefiothprecedented instability that we expect maxesaly hinder our
ability to raise capital within the time periodsexded or on terms we consider acceptable, if abalteover, if we fail to
advance one or more of our current product canelédiat later-stage clinical trials, successfully owencialize one or more of
our product candidates, or acquire new productidates for development, we may have difficultyadting investors that
might otherwise be a source of additional financing

In the current economic environment, our need faiteonal capital and limited capital resources rfage us to accept
financing terms that could be significantly mortutive than if we were raising capital when theitapnarkets were more
stable. To the extent that we raise additionaltehpy issuing equity securities, our stockholdwaesy experience dilution. This
dilution could be particularly substantial becatrseprice of our stock is trading at historicalbyv prices. In addition, we may
grant future investors rights superior to thoseuwfcommon stockholders. If we raise additionadfsithrough collaborations
and licensing arrangements, it may be necessaslitmuish some rights to our technologies, prodactdidates or products, or
grant licenses on terms that are not favorablestdfuve raise additional funds by incurring dek could incur significant
interest expense and become subject to covenatits irelated transaction documentation that coffitetathe manner in which
we conduct our business.

We have a limited operating history upon which to base an investment decision.

We are a development-stage company that was inaigzbin September 2003. To date, we have not dstraded an
ability to perform the functions necessary for siiecessful commercialization of any product caneéislalhe successful
commercialization of any product candidates widjuige us to perform a variety of functions, inclugti

« Continuing to undertake preclinical developmamd alinical trials;
« Participating in regulatory approval processes;
¢ Formulating and manufacturing products; and

* Conducting sales and marketing activities.
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Our operations have been limited to organizing staffing our Company, acquiring, developing, ancuseg our
proprietary product candidates, and undertakinglipieal and clinical trials of our product candids: darinaparsin,
palifosfamide, and indibulin. These operations pie\a limited basis for you to assess our abititg@gmmercialize our product
candidates and the advisability of investing in seeurities.



The success of our growth strategy depends upon our ability to identify, select, and acquire additional pharmaceutical
product candidates for development and commercialization. Because we currently neither have nor intend to establish
internal research capabilities, we are dependent upon pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies and academic and other
researchersto sell or license ustheir product candidates.

Proposing, negotiating, and implementing an econallyi viable product acquisition or license is agthy and complex
process. We compete for partnering arrangementsiarse agreements with pharmaceutical, biophaenteal, and
biotechnology companies, many of which have sigaiftly more experience than we do, and have s@gmfly more financial
resources. Our competitors may have stronger oelships with certain third parties including acaderasearch institutions,
with whom we are interested in collaborating and/ mave, therefore, a competitive advantage in angento partnering
arrangements with those third parties. We may railile to acquire rights to additional product ¢daigs on terms that we
find acceptable, or at all.

We expect that any product candidate to which vegiiae rights will require significant additional\dopment and other
efforts prior to commercial sale, including extensclinical testing and approval by the FDA andlegale foreign regulatory
authorities. All drug product candidates are sutiecthe risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutmaduct development,
including the possibility that the product candaatill not be shown to be sufficiently safe or effee for approval by
regulatory authorities. Even if our product cantiidaare approved, they may not be economically faatured or produced, or
be successfully commercialized.

We actively evaluate additional product candid&tescquire for development. Such additional prodactdidates, if any,
could significantly increase our capital requiremseamd place further strain on the time of ourtigspersonnel, which may
delay or otherwise adversely affect the developrméptr existing product candidates. We must mamagelevelopment
efforts and clinical trials effectively, and hiteain and integrate additional management, adnnatise, and sales and
marketing personnel. We may not be able to accampliese tasks, and our failure to accomplish #tlyean could prevent us
from successfully growing our Company.

We may not be able to successfully manage our growth.

In the future, if we are able to advance our prodaadidates to the point of, and thereafter thipetjnical trials, we will
need to expand our development, regulatory, matwiag, marketing and sales capabilities or cotitwath third parties to
provide for these capabilities. Any future growthi wlace a significant strain on our managemert an our administrative,
operational, and financial resources. Therefore fature financial performance and our ability mmamercialize our product
candidates and to compete effectively will depémgbart, on our ability to manage any future groetfectively. To manage
this growth, we must expand our facilities, augnmantoperational, financial and management systand hire and train
additional qualified personnel. If we are unablentanage our growth effectively, our business magdrened.

Our business will subject usto therisk of liability claims associated with the use of hazardous materials and chemicals.

Our contract research and development activitieg imalve the controlled use of hazardous mateaald chemicals.
Although we believe that our safety proceduresuing, storing, handling and disposing of theseenels comply with federal,
state and local laws and regulations, we cannoptetely eliminate the risk of accidental injurya@mtamination from these
materials. In the event of such an accident, wédcbe held liable for any resulting damages andletoylity could have a
materially adverse effect on our business, findramadition, and results of operations. In additithve federal, state and local
laws and regulations governing the use, manufacstweage, handling and disposal of hazardousdinaative materials and

14

TABLE OF CONTENTS

waste products may require our contractors to isabstantial compliance costs that could matergdiyersely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of opiens.

We rely on key executive officers and scientific and medical advisors, and their knowledge of our business and technical
expertise would be difficult to replace.

We are highly dependent on Dr. Jonathan LewisGhief Executive Officer and Chief Medical Offic&ichard Bagley,
our President, Chief Operating Officer and Chiefdricial Officer, and our principal scientific, régtory, and medical advisors.
Dr. Lewis’ and Mr. Bagley's employment are govertdwritten employment agreements that providgdams that expire in
January 2011 and July 2011, respectively. Dr. Lawig Mr. Bagley may terminate their employment wishat any time,
subject, however, to certain non-compete and ntioitstion covenants. The loss of the technicalwlealge and management



and industry expertise of Dr. Lewis and Mr. Bagleyany of our other key personnel, could resuttefays in product
development, loss of customers and sales, andsitiveof management resources, which could adveedtdgt our operating
results. We do not carry “key person” life insurapolicies on any of our officers or key employees.

If we are unable to hire additional qualified personnel, our ability to grow our business may be harmed.

We will need to hire additional qualified personnéth expertise in preclinical and clinical resdaend testing, government
regulation, formulation and manufacturing, and e¢ually, sales and marketing. We compete for quedifndividuals with
numerous biopharmaceutical companies, universiied other research institutions. Competition fatsindividuals is intense
and we cannot be certain that our search for sacdopnel will be successful. Attracting and retagngualified personnel will
be critical to our success. If we are unable te hulditional qualified personnel, our ability t@grour business may be harmed.

We may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our productsin response to product
liahility lawsuits.

The testing and marketing of medical products éatainherent risk of product liability. If we capihsuccessfully defend
ourselves against product liability claims, we nragur substantial liabilities or be required to iimommercialization of our
products, if approved. Even a successful defensgdwequire significant financial and managemesbteces. Regardless of
the merit or eventual outcome, liability claims nragult in:

e Decreased demand for our product candidates;

* Injury to our reputation;

e Withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

e Withdrawal of prior governmental approvals;

e Costs of related litigation;

e Substantial monetary awards to patients;

*  Product recalls;

* Loss of revenue; and

e The inability to commercialize our product caraties.

We currently carry clinical trial insurance and gwet liability insurance. However, our inability tenew our policies or to
obtain sufficient insurance at an acceptable cosidcprevent or inhibit the commercialization ofapmaceutical products that
we develop, alone or with collaborators.

Risks Related to the Clinical Testing, Regulatory fproval and Manufacturing of Our Product Candidates

If we are unable to obtain the necessary U.S. or worldwide regulatory approvals to commercialize any product candidate, our
businesswill suffer.

We may not be able to obtain the approvals necgssaommercialize our product candidates, or awglpct candidate that
we may acquire or develop in the future for comnadigale. We will need FDA approval to commercialaur product
candidates in the U.S. and approvals from regulaathorities in
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foreign jurisdictions equivalent to the FDA to comtialize our product candidates in those jurisoii. In order to obtain

FDA approval of any product candidate, we must submthe FDA a New Drug Application, demonstratihgt the product
candidate is safe for humans and effective faniended use. This demonstration requires sigmficasearch and animal tests,
which are referred to as preclinical studies, alb aehuman tests, which are referred to as cliticas. Satisfaction of the
FDA's regulatory requirements typically takes maears, depending upon the type, complexity, anclitpwf the product
candidate, and will require substantial resouroesdsearch, development, and testing. We canedigirwhether our research,
development, and clinical approaches will resuliiings that the FDA will consider safe for humand affective for their
intended uses. The FDA has substantial discretidhd drug approval process and may require usrtduct additional
preclinical and clinical testing or to perform paosarketing studies. The approval process may asbetayed by changes in
government regulation, future legislation, or adstiative action or changes in FDA policy that acptior to or during our



regulatory review. Delays in obtaining regulatoppeovals may:
« Delay commercialization of, and our ability toride product revenues from, our product candidates;
e Impose costly procedures on us; and
« Diminish any competitive advantages that we mtagivise enjoy.

Even if we comply with all FDA requests, the FDAyndtimately reject one or more of our NDAs. We ganbe sure that
we will ever obtain regulatory clearance for anyaf product candidates. Failure to obtain FDA apgl for our product
candidates will severely undermine our busineskeaying us without a saleable product, and theeafdgthout any potential
revenue source, until another product candidatébeasteveloped. There is no guarantee that we wéll be able to develop or
acquire another product candidate or that we \ibitam FDA approval if we are able to do so.

In foreign jurisdictions, we similarly must receigpproval from applicable regulatory authoritiefobe we can
commercialize any drugs. Foreign regulatory apprpuacesses generally include all of the risks eisged with the FDA
approval procedures described above.

Our product candidates are in early stages of clinical trials, which are very expensive and time-consuming. We cannot be
certain when we will be able to file an NDA with the FDA and any failure or delay in completing clinical trialsfor our
product candidates could harm our business.

Our product candidates are in early stages of dewatnt and require extensive clinical testing. Nittstanding our current
clinical trial plans for each of our existing pradeandidates, we may not be able to commenceiandlitrials or see results
from these trials within our anticipated timelinds. such, we cannot predict with any certaintyrifvihen we might submit an
NDA for regulatory approval of our product candigmbr whether such an NDA will be accepted. Becaugsdo not anticipate
generating revenues unless and until we submibongore NDAs and thereafter obtain requisite FD Arapals, the timing of
our NDA submissions and FDA determinations regayadipproval thereof, will directly affect if and wieve are able to
generate revenues.

Clinical trials are very expensive, time-consuming, and difficult to design and implement.

Human clinical trials are very expensive and diffico design and implement, in part because theysabject to rigorous
regulatory requirements. The clinical trial procisslf is also time consuming. We estimate thiichl trials of our product
candidates will take at least several years to ¢etmpFurthermore, failure can occur at any stddbeotrials, and we could
encounter problems that cause us to abandon aatrefi@cal trials. The commencement and completibalinical trials may
be delayed by several factors, including:

« Unforeseen safety issues;

* Determination of dosing issues;

* Lack of effectiveness during clinical trials;

« Slower than expected rates of patient recruittnent

« Inability to monitor patients adequately duringadter treatment; and

* Inability or unwillingness of medical investigasao follow our clinical protocols.
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We have received “Orphan Drug” status for palifosfde in both the United States and Europe and weéapeful that we
may be able to obtain “Fast Track” and/or OrphandXstatus from the FDA for our product candidakest Track allows the
FDA to facilitate development and expedite revidwimgs that treat serious and life-threateningditions so that an approved
product can reach the market expeditiously. FaastK status does not apply to a product alone, fipliess to a combination of a
product and the specific indications for whichsibieing studied. Therefore, it is a drug’s develepnprogram for a specific
indication that receives Fast Track designatiomh@n Drug status promotes the development of ptedhat demonstrate the
promise for the diagnosis and treatment of oneadis®r condition and affords certain financial aratket protection benefits
to successful applicants. However, there is noantae that any of our product candidates, other pladifosfamide, will be
granted Orphan Drug status or will be granted Feastk status by the FDA or that, even if such poddandidate is granted
such status, the product candidate’s clinical dgwalent and regulatory approval process will notiékayed or will be



successful.

In addition, we or the FDA may suspend our clinicalls at any time if it appears that we are exppparticipants to
unacceptable health risks or if the FDA finds deficies in our IND submission or in the conducttafse trials. Therefore, we
cannot predict with any certainty the scheduléetiture clinical trials.

The results of our clinical trials may not support our product candidate claims.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plathnge cannot be certain that their results willgan approval of our
product candidates. Success in preclinical testirdyearly clinical trials does not ensure thatleli@ical trials will be
successful, and we cannot be certain that thetsesulater clinical trials will replicate the rd&iof prior clinical trials and
preclinical testing. The clinical trial process nfail to demonstrate that our product candidatessafe for humans and
effective for the indicated uses. This failure wbohuse us to abandon a product candidate and etey development of other
product candidates. Any delay in, or terminationaafr clinical trials will delay the filing of oUKDAs with the FDA and,
ultimately, our ability to commercialize our prodwandidates and generate product revenues. Iti@ddiur clinical trials
involve small patient populations. Because of tinalssample size, the results of these clinicaldrimay not be indicative of
future results.

Even if the FDA approves our product candidategsjiians and patients may not accept and use theoeptance and use
of our products will depend upon a number of fexiocluding:

» Perceptions by members of the health care comguncluding physicians, regarding the safety affdctiveness of
our drugs;

«  Cost-effectiveness of our products relative tmpeting products;
e Availability of reimbursement for our product®fn government or other healthcare payers; and
« Effectiveness of marketing and distribution effdny us and our licensees and distributors, if any

Because we expect sales of our current productidates, if approved, to generate substantiallpfadlur product revenues
for the foreseeable future, the failure of a dmudiid market acceptance would harm our businedscanld require us to seek
additional financing in order to fund the developrnef future product candidates.

Because we are dependent upon clinical research institutions and other contractorsfor clinical testing and for research and
development activities, the results of our clinical trials and such research activities are, to a certain extent, beyond our
control.

We materially rely upon independent investigatard eollaborators, such as universities and medhséitutions, to conduct
our preclinical and clinical trials under agreensenith us. These collaborators are not our empaeel we cannot control the
amount or timing of resources that they devoteuioppograms. These investigators may not assigmesd a priority to our
programs or pursue them as diligently as we wdulekiwere undertaking such programs ourselveait§ide collaborators fail
to devote sufficient time and resources to our dhengelopment programs, or if their performanceutsssandard, the approval of
our FDA applications, if any, and our introductioihinew drugs, if any, will be delayed. These catlators may also have
relationships with other commercial entities, sahezhom may compete with us. If our collaboratossist our competitors to
our detriment, our competitive position would berhad.
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Our reliance on third parties to formulate and manufacture our product candidates exposes usto a number of risks that may
delay the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our products or result in higher product costs.

We do not have experience in drug formulation onuafiacturing and do not intend to establish our ewamufacturing
facilities. We lack the resources and expertisemtmulate or manufacture our own product candidatés currently are
contracting for the manufacture of our product ¢dats. We intend to contract with one or more nfecturers to
manufacture, supply, store, and distribute drugbes for our clinical trials. If a product candtdave develop or acquire in the
future receives FDA approval, we will rely on orrengore third-party contractors to manufacture auigd. Our anticipated
future reliance on a limited number of third-pamanufacturers exposes us to the following risks:

« We may be unable to identify manufacturers oreptable terms or at all because the number of patenanufacturers
is limited, and the FDA must approve any replacdmsentractor. This approval would require new tegtind



compliance inspections. In addition, a new manufactwould have to be educated in, or develop aniisdly
equivalent processes for, production of our prosiafter receipt of FDA approval, if any.

e Our third-party manufacturers might be unablétoulate and manufacture our drugs in the volume &t the quality
required to meet our clinical needs and commergals, if any.

e Our future contract manufacturers may not perfammagreed or may not remain in the contract matwiag business
for the time required to supply our clinical triaisto successfully produce, store, and distrilmuieproducts.

< Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing petiadiannounced inspection by the FDA, the Drug Eeforent
Administration the “DEA”), and corresponding statgencies to ensure strict compliance with good rf@atwring
practices and other government regulations anaspanding foreign standards. We do not have coatre thirdparty
manufacturers’ compliance with these regulatiorss standards.

e If any third-party manufacturer makes improvensantthe manufacturing process for our productsmag not own, or
may have to share, the intellectual property rigbtthe innovation.

Each of these risks could delay our clinical trith® approval, if any, of our product candidatgshe FDA or the
commercialization of our product candidates or Itaathigher costs or deprive us of potential proievenues.

Risks Related to Our Ability to Commercialize Our Roduct Candidates

If we are unable either to create sales, marketing and distribution capabilities or enter into agreements with third partiesto
perform these functions, we will be unable to commercialize our product candidates successfully.

We currently have no marketing, sales, or distidsutapabilities. If and when we become reasonebéitain that we will be
able to commercialize our current or future produate anticipate allocating resources to the marggesales and distribution
of our proposed products in North America; howewer,cannot assure that we will be able to marledt, &nd distribute our
products successfully. Our future success alsodeagnd, in part, on our ability to enter into araimtain collaborative
relationships for such capabilities and to encoeithg collaborator’s strategic interest in the picid under development, and
such collaborator’s ability to successfully mar&eat sell any such products. Although we intenduisipe certain collaborative
arrangements regarding the sale and marketingrgfradlucts, there are no assurances that we wableeto establish or
maintain collaborative arrangements or, if we dule &0 do so, whether we would be able to conducbwn sales efforts.
There can also be no assurance that we will betal@stablish or maintain relationships with thirakty collaborators or
develop in-house sales and distribution capalslifi® the extent that we depend on third partiesnfarketing and distribution,
any revenues we receive will depend upon the sfiairsuch third parties, and there can be no asseithat such efforts will be
successful. In addition, there can also be no assarthat we will be able to market and sell oodpcts in the United States or
overseas.
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If we are not able to partner with a third partylame not successful in recruiting sales and miawdkgtersonnel or in
building a sales and marketing infrastructure, vilehave difficulty commercializing our product cdidates, which would
harm our business. If we rely on pharmaceuticdliotechnology companies with established distrirusystems to market our
products, we will need to establish and maintaingaiship arrangements, and we may not be abletér mto these
arrangements on acceptable terms or at all. Textent that we enter into co-promotion or otheamagements, any revenues
we receive will depend upon the efforts of thirdtjgs that may not be successful and that will by partially in our control.

If we cannot compete successfully for market share against other drug companies, we may not achieve sufficient product
revenues and our businesswill suffer.

The market for our product candidates is charaxdrby intense competition and rapid technologidaiances. If a product
candidate receives FDA approval, it will compet#wva number of existing and future drugs and thesgeveloped,
manufactured and marketed by others. Existing turéucompeting products may provide greater therépeonvenience or
clinical or other benefits for a specific indicatithan our products, or may offer comparable peréorce at a lower cost. If our
products fail to capture and maintain market shasemay not achieve sufficient product revenuesandusiness will suffer.

We will compete against fully integrated pharmammltcompanies and smaller companies that arelmiding with larger
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutiongeigonent agencies and other public and privateareReorganizations.
Many of these competitors have products alreadyose or in development. In addition, many of thesmpetitors, either



alone or together with their collaborative partneggerate larger research and development programmeave substantially
greater financial resources than we do, as walgsficantly greater experience in:

e Developing drugs;

e Undertaking preclinical testing and human clihicils;
*  Obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals fgs;
e Formulating and manufacturing drugs; and

* Launching, marketing, and selling drugs.

If physicians and patients do not accept and use our product candidates, our ability to generate revenue from sales of our
products will be materially impaired.

Even if the FDA approves our product candidategsjgians and patients may not accept and use theoeptance and use
of our products will depend upon a number of fexiocluding:

» Perceptions by members of the health care comyuncluding physicians, about the safety andaifeness of our
drugs;

« Pharmacological benefit and cost-effectivenessunfproducts relative to competing products;
e Availability of reimbursement for our product®ifn government or other healthcare payors;
« Effectiveness of marketing and distribution effdny us and our licensees and distributors, if ang

e The price at which we sell our products.

Our ability to generate product revenues will be diminished if our drugs sell for inadequate prices or patients are unable to
obtain adequate levels of reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize our drugs, alone othwgollaborators, will depend in part on the extenivhich reimbursement
will be available from:

* Government and health administration authorities;
»  Private health maintenance organizations andthéeeurers; and
e Other healthcare payers.

Government and other healthcare payers increasaitgynpt to contain healthcare costs by limitinthbmverage and the
level of reimbursement for drugs. As a result, wenot provide any assurances that third-party gayit provide adequate
coverage of and reimbursement for any of our prodandidates. If we
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are unable to obtain adequate coverage of and payewels for our product candidates from thirdtparayors, physicians may
limit how much or under what circumstances they priéscribe or administer them and patients mayjirmketo purchase them.
This in turn could affect our ability to successfudommercialize our products and impact our padffility and future success.

In both the United States and certain foreign flicigons, there have been a number of legislathdragulatory policies
and proposals in recent years to change the haadtlsystem in ways that could impact our abilitgétl our products
profitably. On December 8, 2003, President Bushegignto law the Medicare Prescription Drug, Immoent and
Modernization Act of 2003 (“MMA”), which containgmong other changes to the law, a wide varietyhahges that have and
will impact Medicare reimbursement of pharmaceugita physicians and hospitals.

There also likely will continue to be legislativedaregulatory proposals that could bring aboutifitant changes in the
healthcare industry. We cannot predict what foroséhchanges might take or the impact on our busioesny legislation or
regulations that may be adopted in the future. ififpdementation of cost containment measures ordtbalthcare reforms may
prevent us from being able to generate revenusngitofitability, or commercialize our products.

In addition, in many foreign countries, particwatthe countries of the European Union, the pri@hgrescription drugs is
subject to government control. We may face comipatiior our product candidates from lower-priceddarcts in foreign



countries that have placed price controls on phaeutical products. In addition, there may be imatioh of foreign
products that compete with our own products, wigichld negatively impact our profitability.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If wefail to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights or securerights to patents of others, the value of
our intellectual property rights would diminish.

Our success, competitive position, and future raesmwill depend in part on our ability and the iéibs of our licensors to
obtain and maintain patent protection for our paigdumethods, processes and other technologipseserve our trade secrets,
to prevent third parties from infringing on our pritary rights, and to operate without infringitig proprietary rights of third
parties.

To date, we have exclusive rights to certain Urfdl. fareign intellectual property. We anticipaténiy additional patent
applications both in the U.S. and in other cousirés appropriate. However, we cannot predict:

e The degree and range of protection any pateritaffiord us against competitors, including whetttard parties will
find ways to invalidate or otherwise circumvent patents;

e If and when patents will be issued;

«  Whether or not others will obtain patents claighaspects similar to those covered by our patemigpatent
applications; or

«  Whether we will need to initiate litigation ormdhistrative proceedings that may be costly whettiemwin or lose.

Our success also depends upon the skills, know]eageexperience of our scientific and technicaspenel, our
consultants and advisors, as well as our licereadscontractors. To help protect our proprietagviinow and our inventions
for which patents may be unobtainable or diffi¢albbtain, we rely on trade secret protection amtfidentiality agreements.
To this end, it is our general policy to require employees, consultants, advisors, and contratdogater into agreements that
prohibit the disclosure of confidential informatiand, where applicable, require disclosure andyassént to us of the ideas,
developments, discoveries, and inventions impottaour business. These agreements may not pradielguate protection for
our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietafgrmation in the event of any unauthorized useiscldsure or the lawful
development by others of such information. If afigur trade secrets, know-how or other proprietafgrmation is disclosed,
the value of our trade secrets, know-how and qthaprietary rights would be significantly impairadd our business and
competitive position would suffer.
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Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement would require us to spend significant time and money and could
prevent us from developing or commercializing our products.

In order to protect or enforce patent rights, wey initiate patent litigation against third parti&€milarly, we may be sued
by others. We also may become subject to procesdiogducted in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Qffictuding
interference proceedings to determine the priaitynventions, or reexamination proceedings. Initmid, any foreign patents
that are granted may become subject to oppositigliity, or revocation proceedings in foreign jdiictions having such
proceedings opposed by third parties in foreigisglictions having opposition proceedings. The dedegnd prosecution, if
necessary, of intellectual property actions arglgasd divert technical and management personmay/drom their normal
responsibilities.

No patent can protect its holder from a claim dfigement of another patent. Therefore, our pgpesttion cannot and
does not provide any assurance that the commaeatiain of our products would not infringe the patéghts of another. While
we know of no actual or threatened claim of infangent that would be material to us, there can bassarance that such a
claim will not be asserted.

If such a claim is asserted, there can be no asseithat the resolution of the claim would pernsita continue marketing
the relevant product on commercially reasonablageif at all. We may not have sufficient resourebring these actions to a
successful conclusion. If we do not successfullguie any infringement actions to which we beconpary or are unable to
have infringed patents declared invalid or unerdalde, we may have to pay substantial monetary gespavhich can be
tripled if the infringement is deemed willful, oelsequired to discontinue or significantly delayntoercialization and



development of the affected products.

Any legal action against us or our collaboratoesning damages and seeking to enjoin developmentalarketing
activities relating to affected products couldagidition to subjecting us to potential liabilityrfdamages, require us or our
collaborators to obtain licenses to continue toedtgy, manufacture, or market the affected prod&ish a license may not be
available to us on commercially reasonable terfrag, all.

An adverse determination in a proceeding invohang owned or licensed intellectual property mapwlentry of generic
substitutes for our products.

Other Risks Related to Our Company

We are subject to Sarbanes-Oxley and the reporting requirements of federal securities laws, which can be expensive.

As a public reporting company, we are subject éo3hrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as to thermétion and reporting
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, and other federal securities lawa. rasult, we incur
significant legal, accounting, and other expenkaswe did not incur as a private company, inclgdinsts associated with our
public company reporting requirements and corpagaternance requirements. As an example of pubponting company
requirements, we evaluate the effectiveness ofafisee controls and procedures and of our intezoatrol over financing
reporting in order to allow management to reporsoch controls. Pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley, o@pieddent registered
public accounting firm will be required to attestthe effectiveness of our internal control oveaficial reporting, as of
December 31, 2009, in our Annual Report on ForniKIor the fiscal year ending December 31, 2009. i/iianagement has
not currently identified any material weaknessesuninternal control over financial reporting, thean be no assurance that
our systems will be deemed effective when our iedejent registered public accounting firm reviewssiistems during 2009
and tests transactions. In addition, any updatesitdinance and accounting systems, proceduresamttols, which may be
required as a result of our ongoing analysis ariml controls, or results of testing by our indegent auditor, may require
significant time and expense.

As a company with limited capital and human resesyour management has identified that there &tenpal for a lack of
segregation of duties due to the limited numbezroployees within our company’s financial and adstiative functions.
Management believes that, based on the employeel@d and the control procedures in place, risgemeiated with such lack
of segregation are not significant and that themptil benefits of adding employees to segregatiesimore clearly do not
justify the associated added expense. Howevemnamagement is working to continuously monitor angrove internal
controls and has
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set in place controls to mitigate the potentialrsggtion of duties risk. We have engaged the seswi€ a Sarbanes-Oxley
consultant to tighten our internal controls andueasdherence to the regulations. In the eventfgignt deficiencies or
material weaknesses are indentified in our intecoatrol over financial reporting that we cannahegliate in a timely manner,
investors and others may lose confidence in thaliity of our financial statements and the tragprice of our common stock
and ability to obtain any necessary equity or diglaincing could suffer. In addition, in the evelmat our independent registered
public accounting firm is unable to rely on oureimtal controls over financial reporting in connentivith its audit of our
financial statements, and in the further eventithatunable to devise alternative proceduresréteoto satisfy itself as to the
material accuracy of our financial statements @tated disclosures, we may be unable to file oupgi reports with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. This wouldylikave an adverse affect on the trading priceusfommmon stock and
our ability to secure any necessary additionaltgaur debt financing, and could result in the deig of our common stock
from the NASDAQ Capital Market, which would sevgrémit the liquidity of our common stock.

Thereisnot now, and there may not ever be an active market for shares of our common stock.

In general, there has been limited trading actiwvitghares of the Company’s common stock. The siraling volume may
make it more difficult for our stockholders to sttleir shares as and when they choose. Furthersmad| trading volumes
generally depress market prices. As a result, yay mot always be able to resell shares of our comsback publicly at the
time and prices that you feel are fair or apprdpria

Our common stock could be delisted from The NASDAQ Capital Market, which could negatively impact the price of our
common stock and our ability to access the capital markets.



Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Capitalrkéd. The listing standards of The NASDAQ Capitadiiet
provide, among other things, that a company magstisted if the bid price of its stock drops bel$®00 for a period of 30
consecutive business days. In light of current miacknditions, The Nasdaq Stock Market has suspkihmitelisting
requirement until April 20, 2009. Recently our #tdas traded below $1.00, and if we fail to compith the listing standards
applicable to issuers listed on The NASDAQ Cap¥alket, our common stock may be delisted absettiéuisuspension of the
trading price requirements. The delisting of oumawon stock would significantly affect the abilitfiovestors to trade our
securities and would significantly negatively afféee value and liquidity of our common stock. tiddion, the delisting of our
common stock could materially adversely affect alitity to raise capital on terms acceptable towat all. Delisting from The
NASDAQ Capital Market could also have other negatisults, including the potential loss of confickeby suppliers and
employees, the loss of institutional investor iagtrand fewer business development opportunities.

Anti-takeover provisionsin our charter documents and under Delaware law may make an acquisition of us, which may be
beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult.

Provisions of our amended and restated certifichbecorporation and bylaws, as well as provisioh®elaware law, could
make it more difficult for a third party to acquis, even if doing so would benefit our stockhadd@hese provisions authorize
the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock twatld be issued by our board of directors to ineeghe number of
outstanding shares and hinder a takeover attemgtjrait who may call a special meeting of stockdesk. In addition, Section
203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, whiabhibits business combinations between us andopn®re significant
stockholders unless specified conditions are may;, discourage, delay or prevent a third party femguiring us.

Because we do not expect to pay dividends, you will not realize any income from an investment in our common stock unless
and until you sell your shares at profit.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stoxkwe do not anticipate that we will pay any divide for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, any return onrarestment in our Company will be realized, if &t ahly when you sell shares
of our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
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Iltem 2. Properties

Our corporate office is located at 1180 Avenuehef Americas, 19th Floor, New York, NY 10036. TheaN¢ork office
space is subject to a five-year lease agreemenexipires in June 2010. Under the terms of theeleas lease approximately
2,580 square feet and are required to make morghkal payments of approximately $11,000 throughrémainder of the term
of the lease. We also maintain business and deweopoperations in Boston, Massachusetts in aneoféicility that occupies
approximately 12,000 square feet. The Boston oface consists of two floors which are leasedyauntsto two separate lease
agreements. The second floor, 4,872 square feemder a three-year lease that expires April 20itDvee are required to make
monthly rental payments that range from $9,947rdytihe current year of the lease to $10,759 duhrdast year of the lease.
The third floor, 6,750 square feet, is under a-frear lease that expires August 2012 and we aréregtito make monthly rental
payments that range from $13,218 during the curreat of the lease to $16,031 during the last gé#re lease. The Company
is presently exploring subletting a portion ofétdsting space to third parties but current unfabte market conditions make
this an unlikely outcome.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are not currently involved in any material legadceedings.
Item. 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of SecugtHolders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our sectatgers during the fourth quarter of the fiscawyended December 31,
2008.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Common Equity and Related Stocktolders Matters

Market for Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Capital Madkaler the symbol “ZIOP.” The following table séisth the high
and low sale prices for our common stock duringhegarter within the two most recently completestdi years as reported by
the NASDAQ Capital Market.

2008 2007
Quarter Ended High Low High Low
March 31 $ 3.6 % 23t % 597 $ 4.3t
June 30 $ 33 % 18C $ 6.5C $ 4.5¢
September 30 $ 21¢ % 1.07 $ 54t % 3.0¢€
December 31 $ 17t $ 0.5¢ $ 360 $ 2.0¢

Record Holders

As of March 12, 2009, we had approximately 248 arddbf record of our common stock, one of which @age & Co., a
nominee for Depository Trust Company, or DTC. Sharfecommon stock that are held by financial ingiins as nominees for
beneficial owners are deposited into participacbaats at DTC, and are considered to be held airdeloy Cede & Co. as one
stockholder.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid a cash dividenduoe@mmon stock and do not anticipate paying amsh cividends in the
foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not make any repurchases of our common stotkg the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not applicable.
Item 7. Management Discussion and Analysis of Finaial Condition and Results of Operation

Overview:

ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical camp that is seeking to develop and commercialideerse, risk-
sensitive portfolio of in-licensed cancer drugg tten address unmet medical needs through enhaifffieaity and/or safety and
quality of life. Our principal focus is on the litging and development of proprietary small moleciiegy candidates that are
related to cancer therapeutics already on the markia development and can be administered bawatnous (“IV") and/or oral
capsule forms of administration. We believe thiategy will result in lower risk and expedited dgvelopment programs
with product candidates having a low cost of mactufdang to address changing reimbursement requingraound the world.
While we may commercialize our products on our émvNorth America, we recognize that favorable dalitrial results can be
better addressed by partnering with companies thihrequisite financial resources. The Companydaldo negotiate the right
to complete development and marketing in certaoggaphies especially for certain limited (nichejigations. Although we
are currently in phase | and/or Il studies for ¢hpeoduct candidates identified as darinaparsina@ar™ , Z10-101),
palifosfamide (Zymafos$M , ZI0-201), and indibulin (Zybulid™ , ZI0-301), with limited capital resources the Camp'’s
focus is on palifosfamide and more specificallycompleting initial enroliment of the ongoing randaed phase I trial with
palifosfamide to support a registration trial f@lifpsfamide in combination with doxorubicin in tfrent- and second-line
setting of soft tissue sarcoma. We anticipatetitation of such a trial as early as the firstflwl2010.
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e ZIO-101 or darinaparsin is an anti-mitochond(@iganic arsenic) compound covered by issued paterd pending
patent applications in the U.S. and in foreign ¢das. A form of commercially available inorganisanic (arsenic
trioxide [Trisenox®]; “ATQ”") has been approved imet United States and the European Union for ttadrtrent of acute
promyelocytic leukemia (“APL"), a precancerous cibiodi. ATO is on the compendia listing for the tApy of multiple
myeloma, and has been studied for the treatmerdradus other cancers. Nevertheless, ATO has bemmrsto be toxi
to the heart, liver, and brain, which limits itseuss an anti-cancer agent. ATO carries a “blacK t@axning for ECG
abnormalities since arsenic trioxide has been showeause QT interval prolongation and complet®atntricular
block. QT prolongation can lead tda@sade de pointegype ventricular arrhythmia, which can be fatabrganic
arsenic has also been shown to cause cancer skithand lung in humans. The toxicity of arsenigeserally
correlated to its accumulation in organs and tiss@eir preclinical and clinical studies to dateéndemonstrated that
darinaparsin is considerably less toxic than inoigarsenic, particularly with regard to cardiaxit¢tty. In vitro testing
of darinaparsin using the National Cancer Instituteiman cancer cell panel detected activity agairseries of tumor
cell lines including lung, colon, brain, melanoraarian, and kidney cancer. Moderate activity weteckted against
breast and prostate cancer. In addition to sohtbing,in vitro testing in both the National Cancer Institute’saarcell
panel andn vivotesting in a leukemia animal model demonstratedtsimiial activity against hematological cancers
(cancers of the blood and blood-forming tissueshsas leukemia, lymphoma, myelodysplastic syndrorued multiple
myeloma. Preliminary results indicate significaativaty against the HUT 78 cutaneous T-cell lymplagithe NKG2MI
natural killer-cell NHL, KARPAS-299 T-cell NHL, SUIDHL-8 B-cell NHL, SU-DHL-10 B-cell NHL and SU-DHL4
B-cell NHL cell lines. Preclinical studies haveaksstablished anti-angiogenic properties of daansip and provided
support for the development of an oral capsule fofithe drug, and established synergy of darindépamscombination
with other approved anti-cancer agents.

Phase | testing of the intravenous form of darinsipan solid tumors and hematological cancersh®es completed.
The Company has reported clinical activity and, ani@ntly, a safety profile from these studies almted by
preclinical results. The Company is nearing conigietf Phase Il studies in advanced myeloma, itageother
hematological cancers, and primary liver canceaddition, the Company is completing two Phasedlists with an oral
capsule form of darinaparsin. Preliminary favoraielgults from the trial with 1V-administered danizasin in
hematologic cancers have been reported. Initialystasults indicate efficacy and a favorable safetfile in various
types of blood cancers. In the ongoing Phaselstqmeliminary reported data in solid tumors irdéecthe oral form is
active and well tolerated. The Company is actiwagking a partner or partners, or other sourcésaing, to progress
both the IV and oral programs into phase Il studparticular sub-types of non-Hodgkin’s lymphonfavé cannot find
a partner to fund the development of either onlgotin forms of darinaparsin, we would intend to cteteothe ongoing
studies which are included in the Company’s curestimate of expenses and then discontinue thdajfeuent program
for darinaparsin.

e ZIO-201 or palifosfamide, is the active metalmliff ifosfamide, a compound chemically relatedydaphosphamide.
Patent applications covering proprietary forms alffpsfamide for pharmaceutical composition andhodtof use have
been filed in the U.S. and internationally. Likeclpphosphamide and ifosfamide, palifosfamide iskylating agent.
The Company believes that cyclophosphamide is thet midely used alkylating agent in cancer therayith
significant use in the treatment of breast canodrreon-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. Ifosfamide has been shawbe
effective at high doses in the treatment of sarcanthlymphoma, either by itself or in combinatiothwother
anticancer agents. Ifosfamide is approved by tt& Bood and Drug Administration (“FDA”) as a treatm for
testicular cancer while ifosfamide-based treatneatstandard of care for sarcoma, although ibidioensed for this
indication by the U.S. Food and Drug Administrati®neclinical studies have shown that palifosfantide activity
against leukemia and solid tumors. These studgssiatlicate that palifosfamide may have a bettitggrofile than
ifosfamide or cyclophosphamide because it doesppeéar to produce known toxic metabolites of ifosése, such as
acrolein and chloroacetaldehyde. Acrolein, whictoidc to the kidneys and

25

TABLE OF CONTENTS

bladder, can mandate the administration of a ptiweeagent called mesna, which is inconvenientexgknsive.
Chloroacetaldehyde is toxic to the central nensysiem, causing “fuzzy brain” syndrome for whichrthis currently
no protective measure. Similar toxicity concernggia to high-dose cyclophosphamide, which is wideded in bone



marrow and blood cell transplantation. Palifosfaertidis evidenced activity against ifosfamide- and/or
cyclophosphamide-resistant cancer cell lines. Adsareclinical cancer models, palifosfamide wasvaido be orally
active and encouraging results have been obtaiitedoalifosfamide in combination with doxorubicizn agent
approved to treat sarcoma.

Following a Phase | dose escalation study, Phasstihg of the intravenous form of palifosfamidesasingle agent to
treat advanced sarcoma has been completed. IrPbhatbe | and Phase Il testing, palifosfamide has bdministered
without the “uroprotectant” mesna, and the toxéstassociated with acrolein and chloroacetaldehgele not been
observed. With an earlier form of palifosfamidegtthas been substituted in the clinic with a nesnfdidney toxicity
(Fanconi's Syndrome) and acute renal failure wepsrted primarily at doses significantly higherrtliae dose
currently used in clinical trials. In clinical stytio date with the new form, there have been nontsf kidney toxicity
and palifosfamide has been otherwise well toleratb@ Company reported clinical activity of palifaside when used
alone in the Phase Il study addressing advancedrsar. Following review of the preclinical combimatistudies,
clinical data, and discussion with sarcoma exp#resCompany initiated a Phase | dose escalatiaty sif
palifosfamide in combination with doxorubicin intjgats with metastatic or unresectable soft tisareoma. In light of
the reported favorable phase Il clinical activigtaland with the combination of palifosfamide wdtixorubicin well
tolerated in the phase I trial and evidencing dgtigenrollment completed, study ongoing), the Camphas initiated a
Phase Il randomized controlled trial to compareadoRicin plus palifosfamide to doxorubicin alonepiatients with
front and second-line metastatic or unresectalitdissue sarcoma. Data from the initial patientshis trial are
expected to shape a registration trial in the ss@tiing which is expected to initiate as earlyhasfirst half of 2010. The
Company is also developing an oral capsule forpatifosfamide to be studied clinically followingrther data from the
IV trials and partnering or other sources of fuigdamd is considering other phase Il trials in od@id tumors as
funding becomes available. Orphan Drug Designdtoipalifosfamide has been obtained in both thetéthStates and
the European Union for the treatment of soft tissareomas.

e Indibulin is a novel, orally available small moldar-weight inhibitor of tubulin polymerizationahwas acquired from
Baxter Healthcare and is the subject of numerotenpaworldwide, including the United States, thedpean Union
and Japan. The microtubule component, tubulinnesaf the more well established drug targets ircearMicrotubule
inhibitors interfere with the dynamics of tubulinlpmerization, resulting in inhibition of chromosersegregation
during mitosis and consequently inhibition of alision. A number of marketed IV anticancer dragget tubulin,
such as the taxane family members, paclitaxel (l&xalocetaxel (Taxotere®), théinca alkaloidfamily members,
vincristine and vinorelbine, and the new classpafteilones with Ixempra“ marketed. This class of agents is typically
the mainstay of therapy in a wide variety of indiieas. In spite of their effectiveness, the uséheke drugs is associa
with significant toxicities, notably peripheral metoxicity.

Preclinical studies with indibulin demonstrate $figant and broad antitumor activity, including &dly against taxane-
refractory cell lines. The cytotoxic activity ofdibulin was demonstrated in several rodent and Imuttn@or cell lines
derived from prostate, brain, breast, pancreag, lanary, and cervical tumor tissues and in rodemior and human
tumor xenograft models. In addition, indibulin weffective against multidrug resistant tumor celeb (breast, lung, and
leukemia) bothn vitro andin vivo. Indibulin is potentially safer than other tubuilithibitors. No neurotoxicity has been
observed at therapeutic doses in rodents and iartheing Phase | trials. Indibulin has also denmast synergy with
approved anti-cancer agents in preclinical studibs. availability of an
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oral capsule formulation of indibulin creates sfipaint commercial opportunity because no oral ckpfrmulations of
paclitaxel or related compounds are currently @ntfarket in the United States.

Indibulin has completed a Phase | trial in Europe @vo additional Phase | trials are nearing cotiquien the U.S. in
patients with advanced solid tumors. The Comparsyrbported signs of clinical activity at well-tadéed doses using a
continuous dosing scheme without the developmeanlimtally relevant peripheral neuropathy. Follogiencouraging
results obtained with indibulin in combination wihotinib, and 5-FU in preclinical models, two Bad combination
studies have been enrolled with Tarceva® and X&oalad are reaching interim completion. Preclinizatk with
consultant Dr. Larry Norton is continuing to exmatose scheduling for the clinical setting. With ttata from the phase
| single agent and combination studies showing/égtand with a dose limiting toxicity not yet reead, the Company
has decided to continue the indibulin developmeogram with a focus on Dr. Norton’s dose schedufindings and,
with the availability of additional funding, withode escalation to maximum tolerated dose usin@pedsie selected



from the preclinical work.

Although we intend to continue with clinical devetoent of darinaparsin for lymphoma in conjunctiathva partner, of
palifosfamide for soft tissue sarcoma and of intiibfor solid tumors, the successful developmenbwf product candidates is
highly uncertain. Product development costs anéltimes can vary significantly for each product ddate and are difficult to
accurately predict. Various statutes and regulatalso govern or influence the manufacturing, safabeling, storage, record
keeping and marketing of each product. The lengtogess of seeking approval and the subsequentlizomog with applicable
statutes and regulations require the expendituseilo$tantial resources. Any failure by us to obtairany delay in obtaining,
regulatory approvals could materially, adversefg@four business. To date, we have not receivptbapl for the sale of any
drug candidates in any market and, therefore, hatgenerated any revenues from our drug candidates

Development Plan

Our development plan for the next twelve montHeésised on completing the first 50 patients infdredomized Phase Il
trial for palifosfamide, partnering darinaparsinddurther establishing dose scheduling and maxirtalerated dose with
indibulin. We expect our principal expendituresidgrthose 12 months to be predominately for pai#fosde and include:

e Clinical trial expenses;
» Clinical trial expenses, including the close doavid data collection expenses for darinaparsiniraidulin;

»  Costs related to the manufacturing of palifostderfior the first 50 patients in the palifosfamidedomized phase II
trial;

* Rent for our facilities; and
e General corporate and working capital, includigmeral and administrative expenses.

We intend to use senior advisors, consultantsicelimesearch organizations, and other third paitbeperform certain
aspects of product development, manufacturingiczinand preclinical development, and regulatsafety and quality
assurance functions.

With the planned development of palifosfamide aontimued collection of indibulin data, with theéntion of partnering
further development of darinaparsin following costfn of ongoing studies, and with other adjustreémbur project and
personnel expenses, including a recent workfordeation of four positions in February 2009 and ofbss of personnel,
following the initial patient enroliment and assmgnino additional capital from financing or partmeyi we expect to incur,
during the next twelve months, approximately $1iian on preclinical and regulatory expenses, appnately $3.1 million
on clinical expenses (including clinical trials thee expect to be triggered under the license ageets relating to our product
candidates), approximately $1.4 million on manufeiay costs, approximately $0.7 million on facési rent, and other
facilities-related costs and approximately $3.7ionlon general corporate and working capital.
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With our current cash position, adjustments infstgf aggressive cash management strategy and iaatan of prepaid
expenses, we believe that we currently have safftatapital that will support our current operasigtrategy into the second
quarter of 2010. Our forecast of the period of titm®ugh which our financial resources will be ad#tg to support our
operations, the costs to complete developmentaafymts and the cost to commercialize our futurepets are forward-looking
statements and involve risks and uncertainties aatahl results could vary materially and negayiv a result of a number of
factors, including the factors discussed in theskRtactors” section of this report. We have babedd estimates on
assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and wedagtilize our available capital resources soonantive currently expect.

Product Candidate Development and Clinical Trials

Intravenous darinaparsinorganic arsenic, has been or is being testedtiemis with advanced myeloma, other
hematological malignancies, and liver cancer. Tejesate Phase Il trials have been completed whirdnearing completion.
Recently reported positive results in patients Withphoma have led to the expansion of the hemgimédbtrial focusing on
non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. The Phase | trials wittoeal form of darinaparsin are ongoing in solid tusmand have been also
expanded to include non-Hodgkin's lymphoma patiefite Company is in actively seeking partners aherossources of
funding for continuing the development program oftbthe 1V and oral forms in certain sub-types ofi+Hodgkin's
lymphoma. If funding or partnering is not accomipéid, the project will be terminated.



Intravenous palifosfamidethe proprietary form of isophosphoramide mustertheing developed presently to treat soft
tissue sarcoma. A Phase Il trial in advanced saadoas been completed. A Phase | trial in combinatiith doxorubicin is
fully enrolled with treatment still ongoing and Wwithe combination well tolerated, evidencing atyivand with the dose
combination established for further study. The Camyphas initiated a randomized controlled phaseall designed to compare
palifosfamide in combination with doxorubicin toxawubicin alone in the front or second-line treatinef metastatic or
unresectable soft tissue sarcoma and intendsébitriial patients to develop a registration ttainitiate as early as the first
half of 2010. An oral formulation has also beenaleped preclinically and, following further IV stydesults, additional
funding or partnering, a phase | is expected tiita. Other trials in solid tumors are under cdagation pending further
funding. Orphan Drug Designation has been obtaioetoth the United States and the European Urdoithfe treatment of soft
tissue sarcomas. Technology transfer and scalerupdé commercial manufacture of the active phasutical ingredient and
final product specification will continue as resces allow.

Indibulin, a novel anti-cancer agent that targets mitosisbipiting tubulin polymerization, is administerad an oral
capsule formulation. Indibulin has completed a IBHasal in Europe and two additional Phase ll$ri@e nearing completion in
the United States with preliminary results repoffeadall three trials. Phase | trials of indibuimcombination with Tarceva®
and also with Xeloda® have been initiated and dedloPreclinical studies under the direction of Darry Norton to support
clinical study of dose dense and metronomic doamegwell underway. Pending further results fromiteeton preclinical work
and available funding, the Company intends to frrtudy indibulin with an identified schedule andietermine maximum
tolerated dose prior to formal phase Il testing selected solid tumor. If further funding is neagable, the project will be
placed on hold.

Results of Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended Dember 31, 2008 Versus December 31, 2007
Revenues.We had no revenues for the years ended Decemb@088 and 2007.

Research and development expensEsr the year ended December 31, 2008, reseatctenelopment expenses decreased
by $1,747,329, or 9.2%, to $17,245,306 from $18,882 in the year ended December 31, 2007. Decreasedrch and
development expenses in the current year are phnadiributable to a decrease of approximateh2$tillion in clinical
research and development expenses due to the cgrpparitizing the clinical trial direction alongitth cost management. The
decrease in research and development is alsouditbile to a decrease of approximately $777,000anufacturing related
costs. These decreases were offset by approxin24ly,000 due to increased payroll and relatedresqzin 2008.
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General and administrative expenseBor the year ended December 31, 2008, genera@meéhistrative expenses
decreased by $1,203,980, or 12.6%, to $8,373,8#8 $9,577,858 in the year ended December 31, ZU¥ decrease is
primarily attributable to a decrease of approxirya$60,000 in investor relations and financial solting costs, a decrease of
approximately $304,000 in payroll, stock compemsatand related expenses, a decrease of approkyri&ted,000 in patent
and related expenses, and a decrease of approkir$ia83,000 in recruiting expenses. These decreasesslightly offset by
an increase of approximately $260,000 in legal.fees

Other income (expense)Other income decreased by $1,574,537, or 80x@%387,710 in the year ended December 31,
2008 from $1,962,247 recorded in the year endec:dber 31, 2007. Other income during the year efidE@mber 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively, was comprised of interesime. The decrease is due to a lower averagebadsince and the drop in
the return from our investments, primarily in Ut®@asuries and money market funds as comparee torévious period.

Net income (loss).For the reasons described above, the net lossaised by $1,376,772, or 5.2%, to $25,231,474en th
year ended December 31, 2008 from $26,608,24G&same period of 2007.

Results of Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended Dember 31, 2007 Versus December 31, 2006
Revenues.We had no revenues for years ended Decembe8Z,anhd 2006.

Research and development expensEer the year ended December 31, 2007, reseactearelopment expenses increased
by $8,601,333, or 82.8%, to $18,992,635 from $10,392 in the year ended December 31, 2006. Inadeasearch and
development expenses in 2007 were primarily attalble to an approximately $3.7 million increasé¢hia cost of clinical trials,
clinical milestone, and regulatory-related expenaasncrease of $0.5 million in preclinical relh&xpenses, and an increase of
approximately $3.4 million in manufacturing-relatemsts. The increase in expenses was also attoleutaan increase of
approximately $1.0 million in payroll and employesated costs as a result of our increasing heada@nd an approximate



increase of $0.3 million in non-cash stock compgosaxpense-related to grants of stock options.

General and administrative expenseBor the year ended December 31, 2007, genera@meéhistrative expenses
increased by $857,568, or 9.8%, to $9,577,858 8(720,290 in the year ended December 31, 2006inthease was
attributable to an increase of approximately $300,d financial consulting costs, approximately $0® for investors relations
services, approximately $0.5 million in legal aradgnt related fees, approximately $0.2 millionantrand related facility
expenses, approximately $0.3 million for recruitexgenses, approximately $0.1 million for travekats, and other related
expenses, and approximately $0.1 million for insae utilities, and office supply related expen3é® increase in expense
was also attributed to an increase of approximai#l@ million in payroll and employee-related castsulting from our
increasing headcount. These increases were offsat pproximate $1.7 million decrease in stock pemsation expenses
relating to grants of stock options recorded inytbar ended December 31, 2006.

Other income (expense)Other income increased by $707,574, or 56.49%11662,247 in the year ended December 31,
2007 from $1,254,673 recorded in the year endecdber 31, 2006. Other income during the year efdsémber 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively, comprised interest incorhe.increase was due to higher cash balances, wilsisiderived from our
February 23, 2007 private placement of common sémtkwarrants that was made available for invegiimposes. We
received approximately $29.0 million in the netg&eds from this private placement.

Net income (loss).For the reasons described above, the net loesaised by $8,751,327, or 49.0%, to $26,608,246an t
year ended December 31, 2007 from $17,856,91%&same period of 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2008, we had approximately $ifildon in cash and cash equivalents, down frord.83nillion in
cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, B)0&n the rate at we have historically used cdsh|imited amount of cash
for use in operations and the recent instabilitthin capital markets, we have taken measures tweeour near term expenses
while we seek additional financing and partneringagements for the development of certain drugliceates. We have
reduced staffing, including a recent
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workforce reduction of four positions in Februag0®2 and other personnel and project related expeasd have focused our
priorities, including changes in our clinical triogram and seeking a partner to continue thadudevelopment of
darinaparsin. If we cannot find a partner to fuinel development of either one or both forms of ggrarsin, we intend to
discontinue the development of darinaparsin follmyihe completion of ongoing trials for which adated expenses are
included in the current forecast. If we are ablelitain additional financing, further studies vatbgress with regard to
indibulin. Based on our current costs saving ple@ pelieve that we currently have sufficient cdpibefund the development
programs for palifosfamide into the second quart&2010 (see Development Plan). Because our busiess not generate any
cash flow, however, we will need to raise additia®pital to continue development of the palifosidgenbeyond that time or to
continue development of our other product candilake the extent additional capital is not avagalvhen we need it, or if we
cannot successfully enter into partnership agre&rfenthe further development of our products,magy be forced to abandon
some or all of our development efforts, which wole a material adverse effect on the prospeasmbusiness. Further, our
assumptions relating to the expected costs of dpuebnt and commercialization and timeframe for detign are dependent
on numerous factors other than available finandimguding significant unforeseen delays in thaiclal trial and regulatory
approval process, which could be extremely costladdition, our estimates assume that we willllde o enroll a sufficient
number of patients in each clinical trial.

The Company anticipates that losses will contirardlfe foreseeable future. At December 31, 20G8Cbmpany’s
accumulated deficit was approximately $85.0 milli@ur actual cash requirements may vary materiediy those planned
because of a number of factors including:

e Changes in the focus and direction of our develepmt programs;
e Competitive and technical advances;

« Costs associated the development of palifosfamimkindibulin and the further financing of dariaegin development
by a partner; and

e Costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enfogcany patent claims and any other intellectuaperty rights, or othe
developments.



In order to continue our long-term plans for claditrials and new product development, we will needhise additional
capital to continue to fund our research and deraknt as well as operations after we exhaust auerucash resources. We
expect to finance our cash needs through the $alquity securities and strategic collaborationgl@bt financings or through
other sources that may be dilutive to existing ldtotders. There can be no assurance that any swaicing can be realized by
the Company, or if realized, what the terms thereay be, or that any amount that the Company s tabtaise will be
adequate to support the Company’s working capégliirements until it achieves profitable operatiddsrrently, we have no
committed sources of additional capital. Recerdhpital markets have experienced a period of uegetted instability that we
expect may severely hinder our ability to raiseitedwithin the time periods needed or on termscaesider acceptable, if at
all. If we are unable to raise additional funds wheeded, we may not be able to market our prodscpdanned or continue
development and regulatory approval of our produmtsve could be required to delay, scale bacKiorieate some or all our
research and development programs.

Since inception, our primary source of fundingdar operations has been the private sale of ouwriies. During the year
ended December 31, 2007, we received gross procéegproximately $30.9 million ($28,970,915 netcakh issuance costs)
as a result of a sale of an aggregate of 5,91G048:s of the Company’s common stock at a pri@&b @25 per share in a
private placement (the “2007 Offering”). In additito these shares, the Company also issued tomazttor a five-year
warrant to purchase, at an exercise price of $gershare, an additional number of shares of constamk equal to 20 percent
of the shares purchased by such investor in th@ 2fering. In the aggregate, these warrants ertittestors to purchase an
additional 1,182,015 shares of common stock. Thaamy engaged Paramount BioCapital, Inc., OppergrefrCo. Inc., and
Griffin Securities, Inc. (together, the “2007 Plamnt Agents”) as placement agents in connection thiz 2007 Offering. In
consideration for their services, the Company paéd2007 Placement Agents aggregate cash comnsssi®i,630,800 and
issued 5-year warrants to the 2007 Placement Agents
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and their designees to purchase an aggregate (f5b6hares of the Company’s common stock at artiegeprice of $5.75 per
share. In connection with the 2007 Offering, thenPany also made cash payments of $222,000 andliS§syear warrants to
purchase 21,244 shares of the Company's commok, stiogan exercise price of $5.75 per share, taanfiial consultant
pursuant to the non-circumvention provision of @pagency agreement. The Company estimated thedhie of the warrants
issued in the 2007 offering at $4,724,169 usingBtaek-Scholes model, using an assumed risk-freeat4.71% and an
expected life of 5 years, volatility of 93% andiaidiend yield of 0%. The total gross proceeds t@sylfrom the 2007 Offering
was approximately $30.9 million, before deductiediisg commissions and expenses.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we redejv@ss proceeds of approximately $37 million (289,121 net of
cash issuance costs) as a result of the sale ajgnegate of 7,991,256 shares of common stockpatea of $4.63 per share, in
a private placement (the “2006 Offering”) that veasnpleted on May 3, 2006. In addition to these ehahe Company also
issued to each investor a five-year warrant to lpase, at an exercise price of $5.56 per sharejditianal number of shares of
common stock equal to 30 percent of the sharedpsed by such investor in the 2006 Offering. Inabgregate, these
warrants entitle investors to purchase an additidyg97,392 shares of common stock. The Companggad)Paramount
BioCapital, Inc. and Griffin Securities, Inc. (tHelacement Agents”) as co-placement agents in attiorewith the 2006
Offering. In consideration for their services, tbempany paid the Placement Agents and certaintséleealers engaged by the
Placement Agents aggregate cash commissions %926 and issued 7-year warrants to the PlaceAgarits and their
designees to purchase an aggregate of 799,126 sitaan exercise price of $5.09 per share. The @oyngalso agreed to
reimburse the Placement Agents for their accouatakpenses incurred in connection with the 200@1O1g.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we redéide815 proceeds from the exercise of stock optém gross
proceeds of approximately $18.1 million ($16.8 afeissuance costs) as a result of the sale by ZIGHW, Inc. of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock in a private placententsaction. During the twelve months ended Decer@bg2004, we
received proceeds of approximately $4.5 millioraaessult of the sale by ZIOPHARM, Inc. of commoocktin a private
placement transaction.

At December 31, 2008, working capital was approxatya$6.0 million, compared to working capital gfpmoximately
$29.2 million at December 31, 2007. The decreaseitking capital reflects the use of funds for gems.

Capital expenditures were approximately $132,00@He year ended December 31, 2008. We anticigaditat
expenditures of approximately $14,000 for the figemr ended December 31, 2009.

Future minimum lease payments under operating $easef December 31, 2008 are as follows (in thulsa



2009 $ 42¢

2010 287
2011 18¢
2012 12¢
Thereafter —
Total future minimum lease payments $1,032

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimdes

The preparation of financial statements requiresGbmpany to make estimates and judgments that dfffe reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expersal related disclosure of contingent assetdialnitities. On an on-going
basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, ingutiiose related to accounting for stock-based emsgtion and research and
development activities. The Company bases its astisnon historical experience and on various @hsumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstatitoesesults of which form the basis for making jomts about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not tgagiparent from other sources. Actual results diffgr from these estimates
under difference assumptions or conditions.
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Operating Expenses

Research and development expenses consist prinshsilaries and related personnel costs; feestpaidnsultants and
outside service providers for preclinical, clinicahd manufacturing development; legal expensestirg from intellectual
property prosecution and organizational affairsl ather expenses relating to the design, developrtesting, and
enhancement of our product candidates. We expansesearch and development costs as they are@tci@eneral and
administrative expenses consist primarily of sakend related expenses for executive, financeo#sd administrative
personnel, recruitment expenses, professionaldieg®ther corporate expenses, including businesdajament and general
legal activities.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company’s most critical estimates consist abaating for stock-based compensation. On Janua2@0d6, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounttiagd@ards No. 123(R) (“SFAS 123R") Share-Based Paynusing the
modified prospective method, which results in thavision of SFAS 123R being applied only to theafigial statements on a
going-forward basis (that is, the prior period teshave not been restated). Under the fair vadgegnition provisions of SFAS
123R, stock-based compensation cost is measuthd gtant date, based on the value of the awarg) tisé Black-Scholes
Model, and is recognized as expense over the sepadod. Previously, the Company had followed Agting Principles
Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25Accounting for Stock Issued to Employeasd related interpretations which resulted iroaot
for employee share options at their intrinsic vahuéhe financial statements.

The Company had previously adopted the provisidr& &S No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS
123") , as amended by SFAS No. 14&counting for Stock-Based Compensation — Tramsénd Disclosurethrough
disclosure only. SFAS 123 required the measurewiethie fair value of stock option or warrants geahto employees to be
included in the statement of operations or altévet, disclosed in the notes to the financial sta¢nts. The Company
previously accounted for stock-based awards to @pegls using the intrinsic value method as presdtityeAccounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 2%\ccounting for Stock Issued to Employead related interpretations, and had
elected the disclosure only alternative under SERS All stock-based awards to nonemployees wereuanted for at their fair
value in accordance with SFAS 123 and EmergingelsJask Force (“EITF”) 96-1&\ccounting for Equity Instruments that
are Issued to Other than Employees for AcquiringnaConjunction with Selling, Goods or Servicéhe Company had
recorded the fair value of each stock option isdoetbn-employees as determined at the date of geamg the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. We expect to record additiaoman-cash compensation expense in the future,hwhiay be significant.

Net Operating Losses and Tax Credit Carryforwards

We record income taxes using the asset and liabiléthod. Deferred income tax assets and lialsliiee recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differebedaeen the financial statement carrying amouhéxisting assets and



liabilities and their respective income tax bases @perating loss and tax credit carryforwards. €ursolidated financial
statements contain certain deferred tax assetshwitgive arisen primarily as a result of operatosgés, as well as other
temporary differences between financial and taxoanting. Statement of Financial Accounting Stand4t8FAS”) No. 109 “
Accounting for Income Taxgsrequires us to establish a valuation allowarficke likelihood of realization of the deferred tax
assets is reduced based on an evaluation of olgedrifiable evidence. Significant management judgt is required in
determining our provision for income taxes, deféitax assets and liabilities and any valuatiorvedioce recorded against
those net deferred tax assets. We evaluate théninafigll available evidence to determine whethé more likely than not that
some portion or all of the net deferred incomeassets will not be realized.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets primarily include property andipqent. In accordance with SFAS No. 14#4ctounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assgtae periodically review long-lived assets for imipnent whenever events or
changes in business circumstances indicate thafttnging amount of the assets may not be fullpvecable or that the useful
lives are no longer appropriate. Each impairmesttissbased on a comparison of the undiscountddftass expected to result
from the use and eventual disposition of the asstte carrying amount of the asset. If impairmisrninhdicated, the asset is
written down to its estimated fair value based aliseounted cash flow analysis. Determining thevalue of long-lived assets
includes significant judgment by management, afférdint judgments could yield different results.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153jr*Value Measurementy"SFAS 157”). This statement is effective
for financial statements issued for fiscal yeargifneing after November 15, 2007. On February 6 82@i0e FASB announced it
issued a FASB Staff Position (FSP) to allow a oearydeferral of adoption of SFAS 157 for nonfinaheissets and
nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized at faalue on a nonrecurring basis. SFAS 157 providesmmon fair value
hierarchy for companies to follow in determiningr fealue measurements in the preparation of firgratatements and expands
disclosure requirements relating to how such falue measurements were developed. SFAS 157 ctattifeeprinciple that fair
value should be based on the assumptions thatdhieetplace would use when pricing an asset ofiighiather than company
specific data. This statement became effectivéhifieitCompany on January 1, 2008. Adoption of thig standard did not have
a material impact on the Company’s financial positiresults of operations or cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15Bé Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Lildiles, Including
an amendment of FASB Statement No. {1SFAS 159"). This statement permits entities toabe to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair vahag &re not currently required to be measurediavdtue. SFAS 159 is
effective as of the beginning of fiscal 2008. Tétigtement became effective for the Company on Jari@008. Adoption of
this new standard did not have a material impadherCompany’s financial position, results of opieras or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141ideeh2007), ‘Business Combinationg"SFAS 141(R)"). SFAS 141
(R) expands the definition of a business combimagind requires the fair value of the purchase mi@n acquisition, including
the issuance of equity securities, to be determamethe acquisition date. SFAS 141(R) also requfrasall assets, liabilities,
contingent considerations, and contingencies afcguired business be recorded at fair value eadhaisition date. In addition,
SFAS 141(R) requires that acquisition costs gelyebal expensed as incurred, restructuring costergéin be expensed in
periods subsequent to the acquisition date, changesounting for deferred tax asset valuatioavedinces be expensed after
the measurement period, and acquired income taariaicties be expensed after t he measurementh&#AS 141(R) is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decembgr 2008 with early adoption prohibited. SFAS Ri)i6 effective for the
Company beginning January 1, 2009 and will chamgewnting for business combinations on a prospediasis.

In June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“BliBBued EITF Issue 07-03,Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance
Payments for Goods or Services Received for UBeatire Research and Development Activiti€EITF No. 07-03"). EITF
No. 07-03 addresses the diversity which exists vé#pect to the accounting for the non-refundabhéign of a payment made
by a research and development entity for futureaesh and development activities. Under EITF Ne08yan entity would
defer and capitalize non-refundable advance paysmaatie for research and development activitie$ tinatirelated goods are
delivered or the related services are performe@FEo. 07-03 did not have a material impact onfmancial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

In November 2007, the EITF issued EITF Issue 07-B&counting for Collaborative ArrangemeritéEITF No. 07-01).



EITF No. 07-01 requires collaborators to preseatrésults of activities for which they act as thiegpal on a gross basis
and report any payments received from (made t@ratbllaborators based on other applicable GAARahe absence of other
applicable GAAP, based on analogy to authoritadieeounting literature or a reasonable, rational, @nsistently applied
accounting policy election. Further,
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EITF No. 07-01 clarified that the determinationndiether transactions within a collaborative arranget are part of a vendor-
customer (or analogous) relationship subject tod$¥l-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given by andor to a Customer”.
EITF No. 07-01 did not have a material impact onfinancial position, results of operations or céekvs.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 16PHe Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Eipfes.” SFAS No.
162 identified the sources of accounting princigebe used in the preparation of financial starsef nongovernmental
entities that are presented in conformity with gatg accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in thaited States. SFAS No.
162 01 did not have a material impact on our fimarqosition, results of operations or cash flows.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any “off-balance sheet arrangenieagshat term is defined by SEC regulation.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk is limited to our calte goals of our investment policy are preservatibcapital, fulfillment
of liquidity needs and fiduciary control of cashdanvestments. We also seek to maximize income fsanminvestments
without assuming significant risk. To achieve ooalg, we maintain our cash in interest-bearing e&slounts. As all of our
investments are cash deposits in a global baigksitbject to minimal interest rate risk.

Effect of Currency Exchange Rates and Exchange Rafisk Management

We conduct business operations outside of the WiStates primarily in Western Europe. These busiopsrations are not
material at this time and therefore, any curremegtfiations will not have a material impact on éinancial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item 8 is contairo pages Ft through F-9 of this annual report on Form 10-K and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief
Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effecteenof our disclosure controls and procedures@sred by Rule 13a-15(b)
of the Exchange Act, as of the end of the periogeoed by this report. Based on that evaluation,Ghief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer have concluded thadfsuch date, our disclosure controls and procedwere effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting for the
Company. Internal control over financial reporti@ag defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Agf process to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityuofinancial reporting for external purposes in@dance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica. Internal control over financial repadiincludes maintaining
records that in reasonable detail accurately ainy f@flect our transactions; providing reasonadssurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary for preparation of nandial statements; providing reasonable assuthateeceipts and
expenditures of company assets are made in acamdéth management authorization; and providingoeable assurance
that unauthorized acquisition, use or dispositiboampany assets that could have a material edfectur financial statements
would be prevented or detected on a timely basisaBse of its inherent limitations, internal cohtneer financial reporting is



not intended to provide absolute assurance thasstatement of our financial statements would leg@nted or detected.
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Management conducted an evaluation of the effentigg, as of December 31, 2008, of our internalrobaver financial
reporting based on the frameworkiimiernal Control — Integrated Frameworésued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basethisrnevaluation, management concluded that the @oyip internal
control over financial reporting was effective december 31, 2008.

This annual report does not include an attestaport of the Company’s registered public accogntirm regarding
internal controls over financial reporting. Managstis report was not subject to attestation byGbenpany’s registered public
accounting firm pursuant to the temporary rulethefSecurities and Exchange Commission that péhmi€Company to only
provide management’s report in this annual report.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reportng

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the quarter ended Decendi, 2008 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finankiaporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

Information in response to this Iltem is incorpoddberein by reference to our definitive proxy stagat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this form 10-K.

Our Board of Directors adopted a Code of Businemsddct and Ethics to be applicable to all officelisgctors and
employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethintended to be designed to deter wrong-doingmnchote honest and
ethical behavior, full, fair, timely, accurate amaderstandable disclosure, and compliance withiecgige laws. The Code of
Ethics is available on our websitevat/w.ziopharm.corand a copy may be obtained without charge uponesritequest to the
Company’s President at the Company’s headquartiehess.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

Information in response to this Iltem is incorpodabterein by reference to our definitive proxy stagat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Corpensation Plans

The Company’s 2003 Stock Option Plan (the “20031BJawvhich is currently the Company’s only equitynspensation
plan, has been approved by the Company's stockisol@iee following table sets forth certain inforinatas of December 31,
2008 with respect to the 2003 Plan:

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future
Number of Issuance



Issuea upon Average compensation

Exercise of Exercise Price Plans (Excluding
Outstanding of Outstanding Securities Reflectec
Options Options in Column (A))
Plan Category (A) (B) ©
Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders:
2003 Stock Option Plan 2,378,008 $ 3.4% 597,72¢
Total: 2,378,008 $ 3.43 597,72¢
Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders:
None — 3 — —
Total: — $ — —

Additional information in response to this Itenirisorporated herein by reference to our definivexy statement to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 dayteathe end of the fiscal year covered by this fagwK.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence

Information in response to this Iltem is incorpoddberein by reference to our definitive proxy staat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information in response to this Iltem is incorpoddberein by reference to our definitive proxy staat to be filed pursuant
to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the endhef fiscal year covered by this form 10-K.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(1) Financial Statements:

The Financial Statements required to be filed bynl8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and filedhis Item 15, are as
follows:

Page

Audited Financial Statements of ZIOPHARM Oncolotng.:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm F-1
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 F-2
Statements of Operations for the Years Ended Deeeih 2008, 2007, and 2006,

and for the Period from September 9, 2003 (dateaafption) through December 31, 2008 F-3
Statements of Changes in Convertible PreferredkSind Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the F-4-F

Period from September 9, 2003 (date of inceptibrugh December 31, 2008 7
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended DeeeB1h 2008, 2007, and 2006, and for the

Period from September 9, 2003 (date of inceptibrgugh December 31, 2008 F-8
Notes to Financial Statemer F-9

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules are omitted because they are not aplgljaatare not required, or because the informatdncluded in the
financial statements and notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits:



The exhibits which are filed or furnished with théport or which are incorporated herein by refeecare set forth in the
Exhibit Index beginning on page A-, which is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usigered, thereunto duly authorized.

ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
Date: March 23, 2009 By: /s/ Jonathan Lewis

Jonathan Lewis
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 23, 2009 By: /s/ Richard Bagley

Richard Bagley

President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Chief Operating Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the @éipa and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Jonathan Lewis Director and Chief Executive Officer March 23, 2009
(Principal Executive Officer)

Jonathan Lewis

/sl Richard Bagley Director, President, Chief Financial Officer, March 23, 2009
Treasurer and Chief Operating Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

Richard Bagley
/sl Murray Brennan Director March 23, 2009

Murray Brennan
/s/ James Cannon Director March 23, 2009

James Cannon
/sl Timothy McInerney Director March 23, 2009

Timothy Mclnerney
/sl Wyche Fowler, Jr. Director March 23, 2009

Wyche Fowler, Jr.
/sl Gary S. Fragin Director March 23, 2009




Gary S. Fragit
/sl Michael Weiser Director March 23, 2009

Michael Weiser
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.
Boston, Massachusetts

We have audited the balance sheets of ZIOPHARM ©ggoinc. (a development stage company) as of Dées 31, 2008
and 2007 and the related statements of operatbasges in convertible preferred stock and stodérs! equity (deficit) and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-peaiod ended December 31, 2008 and for the perad September 9, 2003
(date of inception) through December 31, 2008. &ligmncial statements are the responsibility ef@ompany’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hisancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan arfiorp the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmet athether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Tmep@ny is not required to have, nor were we engsgedrform, audits of its
internal control over financial reporting. Our agdncluded consideration of internal control ofirancial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropimathe circumstances, but not for the purposexpf@&ssing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company'’s internal controlrdugancial reporting. Accordingly, we express mels opinion. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgghe amounts and disclosures in the finarstatements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfinancial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provideazonable basis for our opinion.



In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 2867 and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended Decethe2008 and from September 9, 2003 (date ofpitae) through
December 31, 2008 in conformity with accountingipiples generally accepted in the United Statesnoérica.

Vitale, Caturano & Company, P.C.
Boston, Massachusetts
March 16, 2009
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ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Enterprise)

BALANCE SHEETS
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Data)

December 31,

2008 2007
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1137¢ $ 35,02¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 327 49¢
Total current assets 11,70¢ 35,52¢
Property and equipment, net 48¢ 74€
Deposits 87 95
Other non current assets 291 357
Total assets $ 1257 $ 36,72
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 2,63¢ $ 2,90¢
Accrued expenses 3,13i 3,39
Total current liabilities 5,77¢ 6,30¢
Deferred rent 58 51
Total Liabilities 5,83¢ 6,357

Commitments and contingencies (note 7)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $.001 par value; 280,000,000 sharttmazed; 21,860,464
and 21,298,964 shares issued and outstanding anider 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007, respectively 22 21

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 30,000,000 sharg®rized and no share
issued and outstanding — _

Additional paid-in capital 71,27¢ 69,67«
Warrants issued 20,50¢ 20,50¢
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (85,06 (59,829




Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 12,57 $ 36,72

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of €Héeancial Statements.
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ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Data)

Period from
September 9, 2003
Year Ended December 31, (Date of Inception)
through
2008 2007 2006 December 31, 2008
Research contract revenue $ — — 8 — $ —
Operating expenses:
Research and development, including cost:
research contracts 17,24t 18,99: 10,39: 54,35(
General and administrative 8,37¢ 9,57¢ 8,72( 34,60¢
Total operating expenses 25,61¢ 28,57( 19,11 88,95¢
Loss from operations (25,619 (28,570) (29,117 (88,95¢)
Interest income 38¢ 1,962 1,25¢ 3,897
Net loss $ (25,23) $ (26,609 $ (17,85) $ (85,067
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (119 $ (1.4) $ (1.42)

Weighted average common shares outstandir
used to compute basic and diluted net loss
share 21,232,66 18,832,35 12,571,95

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of €Héeancial Statements.
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ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOC K
AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Period September 9, 2003 (Date of Inceptipio December 31, 2008



(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Data)

Convertible Preferred

Stock and Warrants Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Warrants to
Purchase
Series A o
Series A Convertible Deficit
Convertible Preferred N Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Additional During the Stockholders'
Paid-In Development Equity/
Shares Amount Warrants Shares Amount Capital  Warrants Stage (Deficit)
Stockholders'

contribution,

September 9, 2003 — 3 — 3 — 25048 $ — $ 50C % — $ — 3 50(C
Net loss — — — — — — — (260 (160)
Balance at December :

2003 — — — 250,48° — 50C — (260 34C
Issuance of common

stock — — — 2,254,38! 2 4,49¢ — — 4,50(
Issuance of common

stock for services — — — 256,74¢ 1 43¢ — — 43¢
Fair value of

options/warrants

issued for

nonemployee service — — — — — 13 251 — 264
Net loss — — — — — — — (5,687 (5,687)
Balance at December :

2004 — — — 2,761,62! $ 3 $ 544¢ $ 251 $ (584) $ (144)

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of €Héeancial Statements.
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ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOC K
AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)
For the Period September 9, 2003 (Date of Inceptipio December 31, 2008
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Data)

Convertible Preferred

Stock and Warrants Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Warrants to
Purchase
Series A o
Series A Convertible Deficit
Convertible Preferred Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Additional During the  Stockholders'
Paid-In Development Equity/
Shares Amount Warrants Shares Amount Capital Warrants Stage (Deficit)

Issuance of Series A
convertible preferred
stock (net of expenst



warrant cost o
$1,682,863) 4,197,94 15,077 = = = — — — 15,077

Fair value of warrants t
purchase Series A
convertible preferred
stock — — 1,68: — — — — — 1,68:

Issuance of Common
stock to EasyWeb
Stockholders — — — 189,92: — — — — —

Conversion of Series A
convertible preferred
stock @ $0.001 into
$0.001 common stoc
on September 13,
2005 at an exchange
ratio of .500974 (4,197,94) (15,07 (1,687  4,197,82 4 15,07¢ 1,68: — —

Issuance of common
stock for options — — — 98,62: — 4 — 4

Fair value of
options/warrants
issued for
nonemployee service — — — — — 54 45 — 98

Net loss — — — — — — — (9,519 (9,517

Balance at December ¢
2005 — — — 7,247,99; 7 20,58( 1,97¢ (15,369 7,20z

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of €Héeancial Statements.
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ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Enterprise)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOC K
AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)
For the Period September 9, 2003 (Date of Inceptipio December 31, 2008
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Data)

Convertible Preferred

Stock and Warrants Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Warrants to
Purchase
Series A o
Series A Convertible Deficit
Convertible Preferred N Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Additional During the  Stockholders’
Paid-In Development Equity/
Shares  Amount Warrants Shares Amount Capital  Warrants Stage (Deficit)
Issuance of common stocl
in private placement, ne
of expenses $2,719,39¢ — — — 7,991,25! 8 21,18( — — 21,18¢
Issuance of warrants — — — — — — 13,09: — 13,09:
Issuance of common stocl
for services rendered — — — 25,00( — 10€ — — 10€

Stock based compensatio



Issuance of common stocl
due to exercise of stock
options

Issuance of common stocl
due to exercise of stock
warrants

Net loss

Balance at December 31,
2006

Issuance of common stocl
in private placement, ne
of expenses $1,909,09(

Issuance of warrants

Stock-based compensatio
for employees

Stock-based compensatio
for nonemployee

Issuance of common stocl
for stock options

Issuance of restricted stoc
Net Loss

Balance at December 31,
2007

— — — 5,84¢ — 25 — — 25
— — — 2,80€ — — — — —
— — — — — — —  (17.85) (17,85)
— — —  15272,89 15 4466¢ 1507  (33,22) 26,53
— — —  5910,04 6 23,53 — — 23,53¢
— — — — — — 543 — 5,43¢
— — — — — 1,31¢ — — 1,31¢
— — — — — 12¢ — — 12C
— — — 46,01¢ — 36 — — 36
— — — 70,00( — — — — —
— — — — — — — (26,609 (26,609)
— — — 21,2989 21 69,67« 2050¢ (59,82 30,37(

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of €Héeancial Statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOC K
AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)

For the Period September 9, 2003 (Date of Inceptigpio December 31, 2008
(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Data)

Convertible Preferred
Stock and Warrants

Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Warrants to

Stock-based
compensation

Issuance of restricted

Purchase
Series A o
Series A Convertible Deficit
Convertible Preferred - Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Stock Common Stock Additional During the  Stockholders'
Paid-In Development Equity/
Shares Amount Warrants Shares Amount Capital Warrants Stage (Deficit)
— — — — — 1,60( — — 1,60(C
— — — 586,50( 1 1) — — —

stock

Cancellation of restricte
stock

(25,000 — — — _ _



Net loss — — — — — — — (25,23)) (25,23)

Balance at December :
2008 — 3 — % — 21,860,46 $ 22 $7127¢ $ 2050 3% (8506) $ 6,73¢

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of €#éeancial Statements.

F-7

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Thousands)

Period from
September 9, 2003
Year Ended December 31, (Date of Inception)
through
2008 2007 2006 December 31, 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (2523) $ (26,609 $ (17.85) $ (85,067

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash us
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 38¢ 43¢ 174 1,13(
Stock-based compensation 1,60( 1,43¢ 2,88: 6,72
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets 0 9 Q) 9

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17z (36) (251) (327)
Other noncurrent assets 66 (279 (54) (291
Deposits 8 (86) 4) 87
Increase (decrease) in:

Accounts payable (270 2,13: (60) 2,63¢
Accrued expenses (259) 1,23t 745 3,137
Deferred rent 7 10 6 58

Net cash used in operating activities (23,519 (21,650 (14,429 (72,070

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (132 (73€) (354) (1,629
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1 — 1
(Increase) decrease in short-term investments — 1,55¢ (1,555 —

Net cash (used in) provided by investing
activities (131) 817 (1,909 (1,629

Cash flows from financing activities:
Stockholders' capital contribution — — — 50C

Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 35 25 66



warrants, ne — 28,97 34,28( 67,75

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net — — — 16,76(
Net cash provided by financing activities — 29,00¢ 34,30¢ 85,071

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (23,650 8,17: 17,97¢ 11,37¢
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 35,02¢ 26,85¢ 8,881 —
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 1137¢ $ 3502¢ $ 26,85 $ 11,37¢

Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ — 3 — 3 — 3 =
Cash paid for income taxes $ — 8 — 3 — 3 —

Supplementary disclosure of noncash investing an
financing activities:

Warrants issued to placement agents and investor:

connection with private placement $ - % 543: $ 13,090 $ 20,20¢
Preferred stock conversion to common stock $ — $ — $ — $ 16,76(

Warrants converted to common shares $ - % - % 18 3 18

The Accompanying Notes Are an Integral Part of €Héeancial Statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. (“ZIOPHARM” or the “Compafiyis a biopharmaceutical company that seeks tuiaeq
develop and commercialize, on its own or with ott@mmercial partners, products for the treatmemingirtant unmet
medical needs in cancer.

The Company has had limited operations to datdtarattivities have consisted primarily of raisicapital and conducting
research and development. Accordingly, the Comp@upgnsidered to be in the development stage a¢mber 31, 2008, as
defined by the Financial Accounting Standards BgdfédSB”) in Statement of Financial Accounting Stemds (“SFAS”) No.
7, “ Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Briters.” The Company's fiscal year ends on December 31.

The Company has operated at a loss since its inceipt2003 and has no revenues. The Company pates that losses
will continue for the foreseeable future. At Dec&nB1, 2008, the Company’s accumulated deficit agmoximately $85.0
million. With the proceeds from its 2007 commoncgtoffering, which was completed on February 23)720he Company
currently believes that it has sufficient capitafind development and commercialization activjtpincipally for
palifosfamide, late into the second quarter of 20t Company’s ability to continue operations raifie current cash resources
are exhausted depends on its ability to obtaint@adil financing and achieve profitable operatiasto which no assurances
can be given. Cash requirements may vary matefialiy those now planned because of changes irothesfand direction of
its research and development programs, competitidetechnical advances, patent developments or dédvelopments.
Additional financing will be required to continuperations after the Company exhausts its curresit oasources and to
continue its long-term plans for clinical trialscanew product development. The Company is workiith placement agents to
obtain additional equity or debt financing. Theas de no assurance that any such financing casdtieed by the Company, or
if realized, what the terms thereof may be, or #mt amount that the Company is able to raisebeiladequate to support the
Company’s working capital requirements until it @stes profitable operations. There can be no assasthat forecasted
results will be achieved or that additional finargcivill be obtained. The financial statements dbinclude any adjustments
relating to the recoverability and classificatidrasset amounts or the amounts and classificafitintulities that might be



necessary should the Company be unable to corgisiaggoing concern.

2. Financing

On February 23, 2007, pursuant to subscriptioneagemts between the Company and certain institutammother
accredited investors, the Company completed tleecfadn aggregate of 5,910,049 shares of the Coytgpeommon stock at a
price of $5.225 per share in a private placeméret (2007 Offering”). In addition to these shareklsn the 2007 Offering, the
Company also issued to each investor a five-yearantito purchase, at an exercise price of $5.75Ipare, an additional
number of shares of common stock equal to 20 peafehe shares purchased by such investor in @& Dffering. In the
aggregate, these warrants entitle investors tohagecan additional 1,182,015 shares of common stdekCompany estimated
the fair value of these warrants at $4.7 milliomgghe Black-Scholes model, using an assumedfrézkrate of 4.71% and an
expected life of 5 years, volatility of 93%, andigidend yield of 0%. The total gross proceeds ltegyufrom the 2007 Offering
was approximately $30.9 million, before deductietiisg commissions and expenses.

The Company engaged Paramount BioCapital, Incréfaunt”), Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., and Griffin Sgtas, Inc.
(together, the “2007 Placement Agents”) as placeémgents in connection with the 2007 Offering. émsideration for their
services, the Company paid the 2007 Placement Agggregate cash commissions of $1.6 million (attw$1,019,250 was
paid to Paramount; see Note 6 — Related Party artions) and issued 5-year warrants to the 2003eRiant Agents and their
designees to purchase an aggregate of 156,05&sbfatee Company’s common stock at an exercise mfié5.75 per share. In
connection with the 2007 Offering, the Company alsme cash payments of $222 thousand and issued

F-9

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Enterprise)
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2. Financing — (continued)

5-year warrants to purchase 21,244 shares of thg@oy's common stock, at an exercise price of $pershare, to a financial
consultant pursuant to the non-circumvention pioni®f a prior agency agreement. The Company egditnihe fair value of
these 177,302 warrants at $709 thousand usingldek{Scholes model, using an assumed risk-freeofate’ 1% and an
expected life of 5 years, volatility of 93%, andigidend yield of 0%.

Pursuant to the 2007 Offering, the Company agreers¢ its best efforts to (i) file a registratiaatement covering the
resale of the shares sold in the 2007 Offeringthadcommon stock issuable upon exercise of thestovevarrants and
placement agent warrants issued in the 2007 Offewithin 45 days following the closing date of 2@07 Offering, and (ii) use
its reasonable commercial efforts to cause thestregion statement to be effective within 120 dafgsr such final closing date.

With respect to each investor in the 2007 Offerthg, Company also agreed to use its reasonable eceiahefforts to
cause the registration statement to remain effectitil the earliest of (i) the date on which theestor may sell all of the
shares and shares issuable upon exercise of thantsathen held by the investor pursuant to Rul{i)4of the Securities Act
of 1933 without regard to volume restrictions; diidsuch time as all of the securities held by itheestor and registered under
the registration statement have been sold purdoantegistration statement, or in a transactiemgt from the registration and
prospectus delivery requirements of the Securiigsof 1933 under Section 4(1) thereof so thatralhsfer restrictions and
restrictive legends are removed upon the consuromafisuch sale. The 2007 Placement Agents havedfémrded equivalent
registration rights as the investors in the 200fé@fg with respect to the shares issuable uporceseeof the placement agent
warrants. Effective January 1, 2007, the Compamptatl FASB Staff Position No. EITF 00-19Acounting for Registration
Payment Arrangements FSP EITF 00-19-2"). In accordance with FSP EITF1802, the Company accounts for obligations
under registration payment arrangements in accesdatith SFAS No. 5Accounting for Contingenciednstruments subject to
registration payments are accounted for withouarego the contingent obligation to make registrappayments. In accordance
with FSP EITF 00-19-2, the warrants have been ifiledsas permanent equity. As a result, the Comgas/determined that no
contingent loss exists based on its history of lyna@nual, quarterly and registration filings. TBempany intends to continue
the timely compliance with all SEC filing requirents, which will keep the Company current and thereb registered. On
March 1, 2007, the Company filed a registratiotesteent on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exch&@mamission. The
registration statement was declared effective orcMa6, 2007, rendering the resale of the shasedsin the 2007 Offering



registered under the Securities Exchange Act 08X8%I no penalty was recorded.

On May 3, 2006, pursuant to subscription agreemémtsCompany and certain institutional and otleredited investors,
the Company completed the sale of an aggregat®®1,256 shares of the Company’s common stockpata of $4.63 per
share in a private placement (the “2006 Offeringf)addition to the shares, the Company also istmedch investor a five-
year warrant (each a “Warrant”) to purchase, atxarcise price of $5.56 per share, an additionalber of shares of common
stock equal to 30 percent of the shares purchaseddh investor in the 2006 Offering. In the agategthese Warrants entitle
investors to purchase an additional 2,397,392 shafreommon stock. The Company estimated the firevof these warrants
at $9.6 million using the Black-Scholes model, gsam assumed risk-free rate of 5.01% and an exgppétaeof 5 years,
volatility of 100%, and a dividend yield of 0%. Ttatal gross proceeds resulting from the 2006 @ftewas approximately
$37 million, before deducting selling commissions &xpenses.

The Company engaged Paramount BioCapital, IncGaiftin Securities, Inc. (together, the “2006 Plawnt Agents”) as
co-placement agents in connection with the 200@1@1f. In consideration for their services, the @amy paid the 2006
Placement Agents and certain selected dealers eddmsgthe 2006 Placement Agents and their desigaggregate cash
commissions of $2.6 million (of which $1.7 milliamas paid to Paramount; see Note 6 — Related Paatysactions) and
issued 7-year warrants to the 2006 Placement Agentgheir designees to purchase an aggregatédfZ®shares of the
Company’s common stock
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2. Financing — (continued)

(10 percent of the Shares sold in the 2006 Off¢ran@n exercise price of $5.09 per share (thec#tent Agent Warrants”).
The Company estimated the fair value of these witsrat $3.5 million using the Black-Scholes modeing an assumed risk-
free rate of 5.01% and an expected life of 7 yeartility of 100% and a dividend yield of 0%. TR®mpany made
reimbursements of $100 thousand to the 2006 Platefgents for their expenses incurred in connectigh the 2006
Offering.

Pursuant to the Offering, the Company agreed tatsidgmst efforts to (i) file a registration statamh covering the resale of
the Shares and the common stock issuable uponisx@afcthe Warrants and Placement Agent Warrarttsm80 days
following the closing date of the 2006 Offeringda(ii) use its reasonable commercial efforts toseatlne registration statement
to be effective within 120 days after such finalsthg date.

With respect to each investor in the 2006 Offerthg, Company also agreed to use its reasonable eacrahefforts to
cause the registration statement to remain effectitil the earliest of (i) the date on which theestor may sell all of the
Shares and shares issuable upon exercise of themt&athen held by the investor pursuant to Rul{k)4of the Securities Act
of 1933 without regard to volume restrictions; didsuch time as all of the securities held by itheestor and registered under
the Registration Statement have been sold pursaantegistration statement, or in a transacti@ngx from the registration
and prospectus delivery requirements of the Seesiitct of 1933 under Section 4(1) thereof so #tlaransfer restrictions and
restrictive legends are removed upon the consuromafisuch sale. The Placement Agents have beerdaff equivalent
registration rights as the investors in the 200®@fg with respect to the shares issuable uporceseeof the Placement Agent
Warrants. Warrants issued in the 2006 Offeringciassified as equity. On May 19, 2006, the Comddest a registration
statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and BExgh&ommission. The registration statement wasadettleffective on May
30, 2006, rendering the resale of the shares issubé May 3, 2006 Offering registered under tkeBities Exchange Act of
1933 and no penalties were recorded.

On August, 3, 2005, the Company entered into areément and Plan of Merger dated as of August 3 2be “Merger
Agreement”) with EasyWeb, Inc., a Delaware corgora{“EasyWeb”), and ZIO Acquisition Corp., a Delare corporation and
wholly-owned subsidiary of EasyWeb (“ZIO Acquisitit). EasyWeb was a company that was incorporat&eptember 1998
and had been in the business of designing, matket&iling and maintaining customized and tempiatekey sites on the
Internet that are hosted by third parties. At theetof the Merger (as defined below), however, Bésly had no operating
business and had limited assets and liabilitiessiRunt to the Merger Agreement, ZIO Acquisition geat with and into



ZIOPHARM, with ZIOPHARM remaining as the survivimgmpany and a wholly-owned subsidiary of EasyWhb (t
“Merger”). In connection with the Merger, which weffective as of September 13, 2005, ZIO Acquiritteased to exist and
the surviving company changed its corporate nan®@PHARM, Inc. Based upon an Exchange Ratio, dinee in the
Merger Agreement, in exchange for all of their sisaof capital stock in ZIOPHARM, the ZIOPHARM stbackders received a
number of shares of common stock of EasyWeb suath dipon completion of the Merger, the then-curld@PHARM
stockholders held approximately 96.8% of the outditag shares of common stock of EasyWeb on a flillyted basis. Upon
completion of the Merger, EasyWeb ceased all afeitsaining operations and adopted and continueteimmgnting the business
plan of ZIOPHARM. Further, effective upon the Merghe then current officers and directors of Easp\kesigned, and the
then current officers and directors of ZIOPHARM wappointed officers and directors of EasyWeb olmjunction with the
Merger, ZIOPHARM made payments of approximately®%000 to certain affiliates of EasyWeb in the thaudarter of 2005.
Subsequently, on September 14, 2005, ZIOPHARM ntkige EasyWeb, and EasyWeb changed its name t@AKRM
Oncology, Inc.

Although EasyWeb was the legal acquirer in thesaation, ZIOPHARM became the registrant with theusities and
Exchange Commission. Under generally accepted atioguprinciples, the transaction was accountecfoa reverse
acquisition, whereby ZIOPHARM was considered thguirer of EasyWeb for
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financial reporting purposes because ZIOPHARM sldtolders controlled more than 50% of the postdaation combined
entity, the management and the board were that@PBAARM after the transaction, EasyWeb had no dpegactivity and
limited assets and liabilities as of the transactiate, and the continuing operations of the eatitythose of ZIOPHARM.

Accordingly, the equity of EasyWeb was adjusteceftect a recapitalization of the stock and theiyopf ZIOPHARM was
adjusted to reflect a financing transaction with fitoceeds equal to the net asset value of Easywabdiately prior to the
Merger. The historical financial statements of ZHXRM became the historical financial statementthefCompany. The
historical stockholders’ equity was retroactivedgtated to adjust for the exchange of shares putrsushe Merger Agreement.
All share and per share information included inagheompanying financial statements and notes dfeeteo the exchange,
except as otherwise stated.

On June 6, 2005, the Company completed an offétireg“2005 Offering”) of Series A Convertible Prafed Stock (“Series
A Preferred Stock”). The Company issued 4,197, 96es at $4.31 for gross proceeds of approxim&Eyl million. In
connection with the 2005 Offering, the Company cengated Paramount, placement agent for the 20@5iQyf or its
affiliates for its services through the paymenfajfcash commissions equal to 7% of the gross pdscfrom the sale of the
shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and (b) planemarrants to acquire 419,794 shares of SeriesefeRed Stock (the
“Series A Stock Warrants”), exercisable for a pgmd 7 years from the closing date at a per-sheagecése price equal to 110%
of the price per share sold in the 2005 Offeringe§e commissions are also payable on additiones &gl the Company of
securities (other than in a public offering) toestors introduced to the Company by Paramount gthie twelve (12) month
period subsequent to the final closing of the GfifgrThe Company also paid Paramount an expermsealice of $50 thousand
to reimburse Paramount for its out-of-pocket expenglso, for a period of 36 months from the fi@&bsing, Paramount has
the right of first refusal to act as the placenagnt for any private sale of the Company’s seestiOn September 13, 2005,
the Series A Preferred Stock was converted to 491%/0f the company’s common stock. Lastly, the @any has agreed to
indemnify Paramount against certain liabilitieglirding liabilities under the Securities Act (seet®dl6 — Related Party
Transactions).

The Company valued the Series A Stock Warrantgusia Black-Scholes model and recorded a char§a.@fmillion
against additional paid-in capital. The Companyd&tnated the fair value of such warrants usiegBlack-Scholes model,
using an assumed risk-free rate of 3.93% and e&gdife of 7 years, volatility of 134% and dividepigld of 0%. The net
proceeds from the 2005 Offering were used for meseand development, licensing fees and expensdspaworking capital
and general corporate purposes.



3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have begraped in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in
the United States of America. It is managementisiop that the accompanying consolidated finanstatements reflect all
adjustments (which are normal and recurring) than@cessary to present fairly the Company's filahposition at December
31, 2008 and 2007 and results of operations artdftass for the years ended December 31, 2008, 22006 and the period
from September 3, 2003 (date of inception) throDgkember 31, 2008.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of
America requires management to make estimatessmuohgtions that affect the reported amounts oftassel liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilgiethe date of the financial statements and therted amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Although the
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @ntinued)

Company regularly assesses these estimates, ezsuéts could differ from those estimates. Changestimates are recorded
in the period in which they become known.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highlyitichigh-grade investments with a maturity of nindgys or less when
purchased. Cash equivalents are stated at costhwpproximates fair market value.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consisigypally of cash and
cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash atouoommercial banks, which may, at times, exdeddrally insured
limits. The Company has not experienced any lossssch accounts. The Company believes it is npbsed to any significant
credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

Short-Term | nvestments

The Company accounts for its short-term investmienéecordance with SFAS No. 115Atcounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity SecuritieBiie Company'’s investments, which are carried atwaue, consist of funds
comprised of certificate of deposits with matust@ver ninety days. No short-term investments wearthe Company’s balance
sheet as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accquatable and accrued expenses approximate theirdiie because of
their short-term nature.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets arilitigshfor the expected future tax consequencesvehts that have been
included in the Company’s financial statementsagrreturns. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesdatermined based upon the
difference between the financial reporting basis the tax basis of existing assets and liabiltigisg enacted tax rates
expected to be in effect in the year(s) in whiah differences are expected to reverse. A valuailowance is provided against
deferred tax assets if it is more likely than ratttsuch assets will not be realized.



In July 2006, the Financial Accounting StandardsaiBidssued Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 48ccounting for Uncertainty in
Income TaxesThis Interpretation sets forth a recognition fimad and valuation method to recognize and measuiecome
tax position taken, or expected to be taken, exar¢turn. The evaluation is based on a two-st@poggh. The first step requires
an entity to evaluate whether the tax position wduatore likely than not,” based upon its technicerits, be sustained upon
examination by the appropriate taxing authoritye Becond step requires the tax position to be medsu the largest amount
of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percentyiké being realized upon ultimate settlement. didition, previously recognized
benefits from tax positions that no longer meetrtbe criteria would no longer be recognized. Thgliaption of this
Interpretation will be considered a change in antiog principle with the cumulative effect of theamge recorded to the
opening balance of retained earnings in the pexfatioption. This Interpretation was effective flole Company on January 1,
2007. Adoption of this new Standard did not haweaderial impact on our financial position, reswfoperations or cash flows
(see Note 8 — Income Taxes).
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Exjpees for maintenance and repairs are chargeggderse while the
costs of significant improvements are capitaliZ2epreciation is provided using the straight-linetmoel over the following
estimated useful lives of the related assets, wisitietween three and five years. Upon retiremesate, the cost of the assets
disposed of and the related accumulated depregiati® eliminated from the consolidated balancetsha® related gains or
losses are reflected in the consolidated statenoémigerations. There have been no material redrgsmor sale of assets since
September 3, 2003 (date of inception).

Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144Atcounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Longedd Assets’ the Company
reviews the carrying values of its long-lived asdet possible impairment whenever events or chaeingeircumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts of the assetsmoabe recoverable. Any long-lived assets hetddfsposal are reported at
the lower of their carrying amounts or fair valless costs to sell.

Research and Development Costs

Costs related to research and development areethéwghe Statement of Operations when incurredh $aosts include
proprietary research and development activities;lmased research and development, and expensesatasdavith research and
development contracts, whether performed by the 2oy or contracted with independent third parties.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS NefR)2“ Share-Based Paymefitusing the modified prospective
method, which results in the provision of SFAS 128 being applied to the financial statementagoing-forward basis
(that is, the prior period results have not beatated). Under the fair value recognition provisioh SFAS 123R, stock-based
compensation cost is measured at the grant dagel lesthe value of the award using the Black-Schibledel and is
recognized as expense over the service periodideidy, the Company had followed Accounting PrinegpBoard (“APB”)
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employgemnd related interpretations which resulted incamt for
employee share options at their intrinsic valuthimfinancial statements.

The adoption of SFAS 123R resulted in incremerntallsbased compensation expense which caused tin@&@y’s net
loss to increase by $1.6 million and $1.3 milliar$6.08 and $0.07 per share, for the years endedrbeer 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The adoption had no impact on casld usoperating activities or cash provided by fiiciag activities.

In November 2005, the FASB released the final FAS&f Position No. FAS 123(R)-3,Transition Election Related to
Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Paydwewards’ (“FSP FAS 123(R)-3"). Effective January 1, 206i6e



Company adopted FSP FAS 123(R)-3, which providesihmpany the option to use the “short-cut mettfodtalculating
the historical pool of windfall tax benefits upotiogpting SFAS 123(R).

The Company recognized the full impact of its sHaeed employee payment plans in the statemewigsenations for each
of the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, angl @@fler SFAS 123R and did not capitalize any swshsmn the balance
sheets. The Company recognized $1.4 million, $1ilibom and $2.8 million of compensation expenskated to vesting of
stock options during the year ended December 318,22007, and 2006, respectively. In the years @fEember 31, 2008,
2007, and 2006, the company
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recognized $289 thousand, $9 thousand, and $Onopensation expense, respectively, related to \@sfimestricted stock (see
Note 10 — Stock Option Plan). The following tablegents share-based compensation expense inclutleel Company’s
Statements of Operations:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

(In Thousands)
Research and development, including costs of reseamtracts $ 49T $ 54t $ 37E

General and administrative 1,107 775 2,40z

Share based employee compensation expense before ta 1,60( 1,31¢ 2,771
Income tax benefit — —

Net share based employee compensation ex| $ 1600 $ 1,318 $ 2,77i

The Company had previously adopted the provisidr&&S No. 123, ‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
" (*SFAS 123"), as amended by SFAS No. 14&ccounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Tramséial Disclosure”
through disclosure only. SFAS 123 required the mieasent of the fair value of stock option or watsagranted to employees
to be included in the statement of operations teradtively, disclosed in the notes to the finahsfatements. The Company
previously accounted for stock-based awards to @pegls using the intrinsic value method as presdtityeAccounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25,Accounting for Stock Issued to Employeand related interpretations, and had
elected the disclosure-only alternative under SERS. All stock-based awards to nonemployees weseusated for at their fair
value in accordance with SFAS 123 and EmergingelsJask Force (“EITF”) 96-18,Accounting for Equity Instruments that
are Issued to Other than Employees for AcquiringnaConjunction with Selling, Goods or Servicd$EITF 96-18"). The
Company had recorded the fair value of each stptibissued to non-employees as determined atateof grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The following table illustrates the effect on netd and earnings per share if the Company hadeajpihie fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-basedrds from September 9, 2003 (date of inceptiom)@éoember 31, 2005:
September 9, 2003

(Date of Inception) to
December 31, 2005

(In Thousands, Except p
Share Data)

Net loss:
As reported $ (15,369

Stock-based compensation expense included in expaost loss 802



Pro forma net loss $ (16,319

Basic and diluted net loss per share:
As reported $ (3.75)
Pro forma $ (3.9¢)

The fair value of each stock option is estimatethatdate of grant using the Black-Scholes optiacing model. The
estimated weighted-average fair value of stockamstigranted to employees in 2008, 2007, and 2086approximately $1.20,
$2.66 and $4.10 per share, respectively. Assumptiegarding volatility, expected term, dividendlgiand risk-free interest
rate are required for the Black-Scholes model. Wdiatility assumption is based on the Company'®hitsal experience. The
risk-free interest rate is based
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on a U.S. treasury note with a maturity similattte option award's expected life. The expecteddifgesents the average
period of time that options granted are expectduktoutstanding. Because the Company does notshéfieient historical
exercise data, the Company calculated using thpli$ied method described in the Securities and Exge Commissions Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107 and No. 110. &lassumptions for volatility, expected life, divideyield and risk-free
interest rate are presented in the table below:

2008 2007 2006
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 1.52 -3.49% 3.48-5.03% 4.53 —5.02%
Expected life in years 5 5 5
Expected volatility 94 — 99% 91 — 96% 92 — 102%
Expected dividend yield 0 0 0

Net Loss Per Share

Consistent with SFAS No. 128 Farnings Per Share (“SFAS 128") basic loss per share amounts arethas the
weighted-average number of shares of common stetstamnding during the period. Diluted loss per sl@nounts are based on
the weighted average number of shares of commah sind potentially dilutive common stock outstamgdéuring the period.
The impact of options, warrants, and non-vestetficésd stock to purchase 8,364,248, 7,906,659 535@3,377 shares of
common stock have been excluded from the calculatfaliluted weighted-average share amounts asiti@usion would have
been anti-dilutive for 2008, 2007, and 2006, retipely.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153jr‘Value Measurements(“SFAS 157”). This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for flsears beginning after November 15, 2007. On Fatyr6, 2008, the FASB
announced it issued a FASB Staff Position (FSR)ltaw a one-year deferral of adoption of SFAS 1&7rfonfinancial assets
and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognizedadtt value on a nonrecurring basis. SFAS 157 glesia common fair value
hierarchy for companies to follow in determinindr fealue measurements in the preparation of firgretatements and expands
disclosure requirements relating to how such falu® measurements were developed. SFAS 157 ctatfifeeprinciple that fair
value should be based on the assumptions thatdhieeiplace would use when pricing an asset ofliigbiather than company
specific data. This statement became effectivéifieiCompany on January 1, 2008. Adoption of this sendard did not have
a material impact on the Company’s financial positiresults of operations or cash flows.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15Bhé Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liiies, Including
an Amendment of FASB Statement No.”(ISFAS 159”). This statement permits entitiexctioose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair vahag &re not currently required to be measurediavdtue. SFAS 159 is



effective as of the beginning of fiscal 2008. Tétiastement became effective for the Company on Jari@2008. Adoption
of this new standard did not have a material impadhe Company’s financial position, results oéigtions or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141deeV2007), ‘Business Combinatiori“SFAS 141(R)"). SFAS 141
(R) expands the definition of a business combimagind requires the fair value of the purchase i@ acquisition, including
the issuance of equity securities, to be determamethe acquisition date. SFAS 141(R) also requfrasall assets, liabilities,
contingent considerations, and contingencies @&cuired business be recorded at fair value athaisition date. In addition,
SFAS 141(R) requires that acquisition costs gehebal expensed as incurred, restructuring costergdip be expensed in
periods subsequent to the acquisition date, changaxounting for deferred tax asset valuatioavedinces be
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expensed after the measurement period, and acqogenhe tax uncertainties be expensed after t lessarement period. SFAS
141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning affeecember 15, 2008 with early adoption prohibit8HAS 141(R) is effective
for the Company beginning January 1, 2009 andchiéinge accounting for business combinations ospective basis.

In June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“BliBBued EITF Issue 07-03,Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance
Payments for Goods or Services Received for UBetiwe Research and Development Activiti€EITF No. 07-03"). EITF
No. 07-03 addresses the diversity which exists végipect to the accounting for the non-refundabléign of a payment made
by a research and development entity for futurearh and development activities. Under EITF Ne0OByan entity would
defer and capitalize non-refundable advance paysmaatie for research and development activitie$ tinatirelated goods are
delivered or the related services are performet@iFEo. 07-03 did not have a material impact onfmancial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

In November 2007, the EITF issued EITF Issue 07-B&counting for Collaborative ArrangemeritéEITF No. 07-01).
EITF No. 07-01 requires collaborators to preseatrtsults of activities for which they act as thi@gpal on a gross basis and
report any payments received from (made to) otbkalworators based on other applicable GAAP oth@absence of other
applicable GAAP, based on analogy to authoritadieeounting literature or a reasonable, rational, @nsistently applied
accounting policy election. Further, EITF No. 07-@4rified that the determination of whether trastgas within a
collaborative arrangement are part of a vendoregnst (or analogous) relationship subject to Issi+®,0°'Accounting for
Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer”.FEN0. 07-01 did not have a material impact on darfcial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 16PHe Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Bipfes.” SFAS No.
162 identified the sources of accounting principgtebe used in the preparation of financial statef nongovernmental
entities that are presented in conformity with gatlg accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in theited States. SFAS No.
162 01 did not have a material impact on our fimarqosition, results of operations or cash flows.

4. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consist of the follgwin

December 31,

2008 2007

(In Thousands)

Office and computer equipment $ 37t $ 47E
Software 32¢ 32t
Leasehold improvements 284 22t

Manufacturing equipment 12 12




Less accumulated depreciation (510 (297

Property and equipment, net $ 48¢ $ 74€

Depreciation and amortization charged to the Stateraf Operations for the years ended Decembe2®18, 2007, 2006
and from September 9, 2003 (date of inception)aoddnber 31, 2008 (in thousands) was: $388, $433! &fd $1,130,
respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Coynpined and disposed of $169 thousand of propartyequipment
which was fully depreciated. There were no gainesses on the disposal.
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Additionally, during the year ended December 3D&®1 thousand of property and equipment with emdated
depreciation of $0.6 thousand was sold for $0.7ishad.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Coyngined and disposed of $459 thousand of propattyequipment
with accumulated depreciation of $449 thousandltieguin a loss on retirement of $10 thousand.

5. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2008 2007

(In Thousands)

Manufacturing services $ 151z $ 1,22¢
Clinical consulting services 1,22¢ 1,507
Professional services 152 124
Research and development consulting services 11C 12z
Accrued vacation 42 35
Employee compensation 9 27¢
Other 83 107
Accrued expenses $ 3137 $ 3,391

6. Related Party Transactions

During 2005, the Company engaged Paramount tat&sgikacing shares of Series A Preferred Stoch dbbest efforts”
basis. Lindsay A. Rosenwald, M.D. is Chairman ahteCExecutive Officer of Paramount. Dr. Rosenwialdlso managing
member of Horizon BioMedical Ventures, LLC (“Horizd. On December 30, 2004, Horizon authorized tisgridution of
2,428,911(4,848,376 pre-Merger) shares of commarkgsuch shares, the “Horizon Distributed Sharesgqual installments
of 1,214,456 (2,424,188 pre-Merger) shares of comatock to Mibars, LLC (“Mibars”) and to Dr. Roseald and his
designees (the “Designated Shares”). The dispasitidhe Designated Shares will be subject to aertstrictions as agreed to
among Dr. Rosenwald and Dr. Rosenwald’s desigaasng other things, under certain circumstance$ostt in pledge
agreements between Dr. Rosenwald and his designedpsenwald has the right to re-acquire the grested Shares from his
designees. As a result of those rights, Dr. Ros&hmay be deemed to be an affiliate of the Company.

In connection with the December 22, 2004 Optione®gnent with Southern Research Institute (“SRI'§, Gompany
entered into a Finders Agreement, dated Decemhet@Bl, with Paramount pursuant to which the Comeas agreed to



compensate Paramount, for services in connectitmthie Company’s introduction to SRI through thgmant of (a) a cash
fee of $60 thousand and (b) warrants to purchage262125,000 pre-Merger) shares of the Comparyisngon stock at a price
equal to $4.75 ($2.38 pre-Merger) per share. Thagamy has estimated the fair value of such warnasitygy the Black-Scholes
model, using an assumed risk-free rate of 3.93% eapected life of 7 years, volatility of 134% astididend yield of 0%. In
December 2004, the Company expensed the $60,00@éisgpayable to Paramount and recognized compensadpense in
the amount of $251 thousand for the issuance ofvtireants.

In connection with the Series A Preferred Stocke@iffy, the Company and Paramount entered into taodinction
Agreement in January 2005, pursuant to which the@my had agreed to compensate Paramount fomiieag in connection
with the Offering through the payment of (a) casmmissions equal to 7% of the gross proceeds flensale of the shares of
Series A Preferred Stock, and (b) placement wasrant
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to acquire a number of shares of Series A Prefétedk equal to 10% of the number of shares ofeSekiPreferred Stock
issued in the Offering, exercisable for a period gkars from the Closing Date at a per Share eseepice equal to 110% of
the price per Share sold in the Offering. Thesern@sions are also payable on additional sales ®Lthmpany of securities
(other than in a public offering) to investors aduced to the Company by Paramount during the ev@l2) month period
subsequent to the final closing of the Offeringe T@ompany also agreed to pay to Paramount a hansatable expense
allowance of $50 thousand to reimburse Paramourtsfout-of-pocket expenses. Also, for a perio@®fmonths from the final
Closing, Paramount has the right of first refusadtt as the placement agent for the private $aleedCompany’s securities.
Lastly, the Company has agreed to indemnify Parainagainst certain liabilities, including liabis under the Securities Act.

In connection with the 2006 Offering, on May 3, B80the Company paid Paramount a cash commissical &mid% of the
gross proceeds from the sale of the Shares sadRhlgmount in the 2006 Offering, resulting in a gaayiment of approximately
$1,726,644. In addition, the Company issued 7-yearants to the 2006 Placement Agents and theigaess to purchase an
aggregate of 799,126 shares (10 percent of theeSlsaid in the Offering) of the Company’s commatkt of which 532,750
were issued to Paramount at an exercise price.0D§%er share.

On December 18, 2006 the Company paid Paramouwhasettlement of $180 thousand in exchange fanRaunt’s
agreement to terminate certain of its rights urtder2005 and 2004 agreements. This amount was ssgém the year ended
December 31, 2006.

Mr. Timothy Mclnerney, who is a member of the Boafirectors of the Company, was a full-time enyge of
Paramount from 1992 through March 2007. In addjtMithael Weiser, a current member of the BoarBioéctors of the
Company, and David M. Tanen, who was a membereoBtbard of Directors of the Company, were full-tieTaployees of
Paramount from July 1998 through November 2006,Jagl 1996 through August 2004, respectively. MhrdKnox, our
former Treasurer, is also a full-time Paramount leyge.

In connection with the 2007 Offering, on FebruaBy 2007, the Company paid Paramount cash commissigumal to 6% of
the gross proceeds from the sale of the sharesgdihramount in the 2007 Offering, resulting iteah payment of
approximately $1.0 million. In addition, the Compgassued 5-year warrants to the placement ageritei2007 Offering and
their designees to purchase an aggregate of 178{802s (3% of the shares sold in the 2007 Offeohthe Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $5.75 persivdiwhich 97,536 were issued to Paramount.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, there m@related party transactions.
7. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

In May 2005, the Company entered into an operdéage for new office in New York, NY consisting2680 square feet.
The lease expires in May 2010. In connection witk kease agreement, the Company entered intbea éftcredit in the



amount of $60 thousand naming the Company's lad@isbeneficiary. As of December 31, 2008 and 20@&/Company
has classified the $60 thousand letter of credithsr non-current assets on the balance sheet.

In August 2006, the Company entered into an opegdéiase for new office space in New Haven, CT isting of 2,200
square feet. The lease expires in September 260@®nnection with this lease agreement the Compamyided a security
deposit of $4 thousand. At December 31, 2007, rag2any has classified
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this amount in deposits on the balance sheet.l@ase was terminated in December 2008 in considaraf a payment of $12
thousand, equaling three months rent. At Decembg2@08, the Company has no further obligationsuiiids agreement.

In April 2007, the Company entered into a subldas@ew office space in Charlestown, MA consistoigl,872 square feet.
The lease expires in April 2010. In connection vtitls lease agreement the Company provided a $gdaposit of $41
thousand. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Coyipas classified this amount in deposits on tharx# sheet.

In August 2007, the Company entered into a sublfsasgew office space in Charlestown, MA consistaid, 750 square
feet. The lease expires in September 2012. In eimmewith this lease agreement the Company pravalsecurity deposit of
$45 thousand. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, tinep@oy has classified this amount in deposits obéience sheet.

Future minimum lease payments under operating $easef December 31, 2008 are as follows (in thulsa

2009 $ 42¢
2010 287
2011 18¢
2012 12¢
Thereafter —
Total future minimum lease payments $ 1,032

Total rent expense was approximately $506 thouseB@B thousand, $253 thousand and $1.7 milliorttferyears ended
December 31, 2008, 2007, 2006 and for Septem#2H03 (date of inception) to December 31, 2008, aetspely.

The Company records rent expense on a straighblises over the term of the lease. Accordingly,Goenpany has
recorded a liability for deferred rent at Decem®&r 2008 and 2007 of $58 thousand and $51 thousesectively, which is
recorded in deferred rent on the accompanying balaheet.

License Agreements

Patent and Technology License Agreement — The tditivef Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center andlidveas A&M
University System.

On August 24, 2004, the Company entered into anpated technology license agreement with The BoaRlegents of the
University of Texas System, acting on behalf of Theversity of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Centat the Texas A&M
University System (collectively, the “LicensorsQnder this agreement, the Company was granted @dasexe, worldwide
license to rights (including rights to US and fgrepatent and patent applications and related imgments and know-how) for
the manufacture and commercialization of two clasgerganic arsenicals (water- and lipid-basedhfonan and animal use.
The class of water-based organic arsenicals inslddenaparsin.

In October 2004, the Company received a noticdlafvance for US Patent Application No. 10/33796&tjtéed “S-
dimethylarsino-thiosuccinic acid S-dimethylarsindhkBbbenzoic acid S-(simethylarsino) glutathiondraatments for cancer.”
The patent application claims both therapeutic asespharmaceutical compositions containing a nolasis of organic



arsenicals, including darinaparsin, for the treathod cancer. In February 2006, we announced tisatand organic arsenic
case has been issued under U.S. Patent No. 699Bi8&atent provides further coverage of can@atiment using organic
arsenic, including darinaparsin, in combinationhwather agents or therapies. On July 29, 2008dditianal organic arsenic
patent was issued under U.S. Patent No. 7,405@t4iding further coverage of cancer treatmentaisin

F-20

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ZIOPHARM ONCOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Enterprise)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. Commitments and Contingencies — (continued)

organic arsenic, including higher purity darinapar€urrently there are corresponding foreign aggtlons relating to
darinaparsin in various foreign countries.

As patrtial consideration for the license rightsaiéd, the Company made an upfront payment of $#i@%sand and granted
the Licensors 250,487 (500,000 pre-Merger) sharesrocommon stock. The Company expensed the $idtsand upfront
payment and recognized research and developmemarwation expense of $426 thousand in connectitmtixé issuance of
the 250,487 shares of common stock in the yearceBeéeember 31, 2004. In addition, the Company tsystions to purchase
an additional 50,222 (100,250 pre-Merger) sharésiadeithe 2003 Stock Option Plan for $0.002 pereshalowing the
successful completion of certain clinical milestendpon the filing of an Investigation New Drug Aigption (“IND”) for
darinaparsin in 2005, 12,555 (25,063 pre-Mergeafeh vested and the Company recognized compensaji@mse of $54
thousand. Upon the completion of dosing of the gasient for both phase | clinical trials in 20@5,111 (50,125 pre-Merger)
shares vested and the Company recognized compamsatiense of $120 thousand. The remaining 1255662 pre-Merger)
shares will vest upon enrollment of the first patig@ a multi-center pivotal clinical trial (i.ea,human clinical trial intended to
provide the substantial evidence of efficacy nemgsto support the filing of an approvable New DAgplication (“NDA”) for
darinaparsin). The options were subject to accagrgursuant to EITF 96-18, and therefore are vatie¢de date which the
milestones are achieved. In addition, the Licenacgsentitled to receive certain milestone payméhts“Anderson
Milestones”), including $100,000 that was paid uglmea commencement of phase | clinical trial for evhihe Company
recognized the expense in the year ended Decertb2085 and $250 thousand upon the dosing of teegéatient in the
Registrant-sponsored phase Il clinical trial foridaparsin which was recognized in the year endeceber 31, 2006. The
Company may be required to make additional paymamis achievement of certain other milestonesanying amounts
which on a cumulative basis could total up to $4aiion. In addition, the Licensors are entitledrezeive royalty payments on
sales from a licensed product should such a prdmhueipproved for commercial sale and sales ofadied product be effected
in the United States, Canada, the European Unidayman. The Licensors also will be entitled to ireca portion of any fees
that the Company may receive from a possible seidie under certain circumstances. For the yeaedidbdcember 31, 2007
and 2006, the Company expensed $100 thousand yorgrds made to the Licensors to conduct scienéearch. The
Company has the exclusive right to all intellectoralperty rights resulting from such research pamsto the terms of the
license agreement. These sponsored research agiseand any related extensions expired in Febr2@®3 with no payments
being made in 2008.

The license agreement also contains other prosdsiastomary and common in similar agreements wittiérindustry, such
as the right to sublicense the Company rights utideagreement. However, if the Company subliceitseghts prior to the
commencement of a pivotal studyd., a human clinical trial intended to provide théstantial evidence of efficacy necessary
to support the filing of an approvable NDA), theénsors will be entitled to receive a share ofpiingments received by the
company in exchange for the sublicense (subjectttain exceptions).

License Agreement with DEKK-Tec, Inc.

On October 15, 2004, the Company entered intoeagie agreement with DEKK-Tec, Inc., pursuant tacwiit was granted
an exclusive, worldwide license to the second |[gadluct candidate, palifosfamide. As part of thgmsig of license agreement
with DEKK-Tec, the Company expensed a $50 thousgmnfiont payment in the year ended December 314200

In consideration for the license rights, DEKK-Tecntitled to receive milestone payments upon teemence of certain
achievements of certain milestones, in varying amewhich on a cumulative basis may total $3,900,@f the aggregate
milestone payments, most of the total amount vélckeditable
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against future royalty payments, as referencedvbdburing the year ended December 31, 2006, thegaomrecorded a
charge of $100 thousand for achieving phase llstolees. Additionally in 2004, the Company issueBETec an option to
purchase 27,616 shares of our common stock fo2$e® share. The options were subject to accouptimguant to EITF 96-
18, and therefore are valued at the date whicmilestones are achieved. Upon the execution olickase agreement, 6,904
shares vested and were exercised in the fiscalgraied December 31, 2005 and resulted in a recattide of $12 thousand
to research and development expense. In regahe$e options, the Company has estimated the flaie wd such options using
the Black-Scholes model, using an assumed riskréreeof 3.35%, and expected life of 5 years, vdlabf 134% and dividend
yield of 0%. The remaining options will vest upartain milestone events, culminating with final FBpproval of the first
NDA submitted by the Company (or by our sublicef$eepalifosfamide. DEKK-Tec is entitled to receivoyalty payments on
the sales of palifosfamide should it be approvedéonmercial sale.

Option Agreement with Southern Research Institi8RK")

On December 22, 2004, the Company entered intopdioi©Agreement with SRI (the “Option Agreemeniyrsuant to
which the Company was granted an exclusive optiarbtain an exclusive license to SRI’s interestartain intellectual
property, including exclusive rights related totagr isophosphoramide mustard analogs (the “SRic@pt

Also on December 22, 2004, the Company enteredciiiResearch Agreement with SRI pursuant to whiehQompany
agreed to spend a sum not to exceed $200 thoustwedm the execution of the agreement and Dece2dh@006, including a
$25 thousand payment that was made simultaneoutiytive execution of the agreement, to fund redeanzl development
work by SRI in the field of isophosphoramide mudtanalogs (the “SRI Research Program”). Underahmg of the Option
Agreement, the Company’s exclusive right to exerthe SRI Option will expire sixty days after tleemination or expiration
of the SRI Research Program and the delivery ofdperts required thereunder. The option agreemasatexercised on
February 13, 2007 and an annual payments of $2&#ml were made in the years ended December 38 a2@02007 for
maintenance of this option agreement (see NoteRelated Party Transactions).

License Agreement with Baxter Healthcare Corporatio

On November 3, 2006, the Company signed a defeiisset Purchase Agreement (for indibulin) and hseeAgreement
(to Baxter's proprietary nanosuspension technolagty) affiliates of Baxter Healthcare Corporatidndibulin is a novel anti-
cancer agent that binds to tubulin, one of therg&deroteins for chromosomal segregation, angets mitosis like the taxanes
and vinca alkaloids. It is available as both an anal a proprietary nanosuspension intravenous.fbtatecules that target
mitosis and inhibit cell division (antimitotic agishare a major focus of cancer research and tleegraong the most widely
used anti-cancer drugs in oncology today. Amongibee well known antimitotic drugs are the taxafmsclitaxel, docetaxel)
and the vinca alkaloids (vincristine, vinblastin€he terms of the agreement include an upfront pagment of approximately
$1.1 million, which has been expensed as purchassgrch and development in the year ended Dece3tb2006. In
addition, $15 thousand was paid for annual patedtliaense maintenance fee and $100 thousand viciégpaxisting
inventory during 2006. During the year ended Deoendi, 2007, the Company recorded an expense &f thé2isand related
to the achievement of a milestone for the succesEBUND application for indibulin and also paid additional $15 thousand
for the annual patent and license maintenancdrfe2008, the Company paid $15 thousand for the alnpatent and license
maintenance fee. In addition to the upfront cabisre will be additional milestone payments thatid@amount to
approximately $8 million in the aggregate and rogalon net sales. The purchase price includesritiee indibulin intellectual
property portfolio as well as existing drug substaand capsule inventories.
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Collaboration agreement with Harmon Hill, LLC

On April 8, 2008, the Company signed a collaboratigreement for Harmon Hill to provide consultingl @ather services
for the development and commercialization of onggltherapeutics by ZIOPHARM. The initial term iseopear and may be
renewed or extended. The Company shall pay Harnlb820 thousand per month for the consulting segsi In addition the
Company agrees to pay Harmon Hill (a) $500 thousguwh the first patient dosing of the Specified @ a pivotal trial,
which trial uses a dosing Regime introduced by Haridill; and (b) provided that the Specified Drggeives regulatory
approval from the FDA, the EMEA or another regutptagency for the marketing of the Specified Drutparoyalty of the
Company’s net sales will be awarded to Harmon HiIC. A 1% award of royalties received from a sublisee will be given to
Harmon Hill in any event that the Specified Drugimblicensed. During the year ended December 318,20e Company paid
and expensed $180 thousand for consulting serpieeaforementioned contract. No milestones have besched or accrued
during the year ending December 31, 2008.

Guarantees and I ndemnification Obligations

Certain officer and employees also have specifargnteed severance agreements. In conjunctionthigtB005 Offering,
the Company has agreed to indemnify Paramount sigeéntain liabilities, including liabilities undére Securities Act. The
Company has not recorded any expense or liabilitieler FIN 45Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requiremémnts
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Inéelbiess of Others — An Interpretation of FASB StatesiNo. 5, 57, and
107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34

8. Income Taxes

There is no provision for income taxes becausé€tmpany has incurred operating losses since irmeplihe reported
amount of income tax expense for the years differs the amount that would result from applying aatic federal statutory
tax rates to pretax losses primarily because otltamges in the valuation allowance. Significamhponents of the Company's
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2008 and 26@&dollows:

December 31,

2008 2007

(In Thousands)

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 6,468 $ 5917
Start-up and organizational costs 23,19¢ 14,38t
Research and development credit carryforwards 1,66t 1,191
Stock compensation 47E 393
Accrued bonus — 10
Depreciation (27 12
Other 46C 15¢

32,237 22,067
Less valuation allowance (32,237 (22,067

Net deferred tax asse $ — 3 —

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying amoftiassets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane thmounts used for income tax purposes. At DeceBhet008, the Company
has aggregate net operating loss carryforwardfeétaral tax purposes of approximately $16.1 miliksailable to offset future
federal and state taxable income to the extentiftedrunder the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC"), exyg in varying amounts
through 2028. Additionally, the Company has apprately $1.6 million of research and developmenditseat December 31,
2008, expiring
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in varying amounts through 2028, which may be add to reduce future taxes. Under the IRC, cegabstantial changes in
the Company’s ownership may limit the amount of sy@rating loss carryforwards that can be utilizedny one year to offset
future taxable income. The net operating loss éanmards for the year ended December 31, 2008 dedwpproximately $15
thousand resulting from excess tax deductions Btwok options exercised in 2007. Pursuant to SFASI®3R, the deferred
tax asset relating to excess tax benefits genefaiadexercises was not recognized for financialeshent purposes.

The Company has provided a valuation allowancéhferfull amount of these net deferred tax assitsest is more likely
than not that these future benefits will not bdized. However, these deferred tax assets may aiable to offset future
income tax liabilities and expenses. The valuasibowance increased by $3.6 million primarily doenet operating loss
carryforward, start-up and organizational costsl, e increase in research and development credits.

A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit)ret statutory federal income tax rate and inccames as reflected in the
financial statements is as follows:

December 31,

2008 2007 2006

(In Thousands)

Federal income tax at statutory rates 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
State income tax, net of federal tax benefit 6.1% 6.1% 6.2%
Research and development credits 2.5% 2.1% 2.2%
Stock compensation -1.7% -1.4% -4.%2%
FIN 48 adjustment 0.C% -5.7% 0.C%
Other -0.5% 0.C% -0.1%
Increase in valuation allowance -40.2% -35.(% -38.2%
Effective tax rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

The company adopted Financial Interpretation Nurdi@er'Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions” omdary 1, 2007.
FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertaintyinicome taxes recognized in an enterprise’s findistédements in accordance
with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Incofaxes.” FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threskamld measurement of
a tax position taken or expected to be taken axadturn. The company did not establish any aoluliti reserves for uncertain
tax liabilities upon adoption of FIN 48. A summanfythe company's adjustments to its uncertain tesitipns in the current year
are as follows:

(In Thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2007 (adoption of FIN 48) $ 134
Increase/Decrease for tax positions related tatineent year 104
Increase/Decrease for tax positions related ta pears —
Decreases for settlements with applicable taxirtgaities —
Decreases for lapses of statute of limitations —
Balance at December 31, 2007 23¢
Increase/Decrease for tax positions related tatneent year —
Increase/Decrease for tax positions related ta years —
Decreases for settlements with applicable taxirtgarities —
Decreases for lapses of statute of limitations —
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8. Income Taxes — (continued)

The Company has not recognized any interest analgesin the statement of operations becauseso€Cthmpany’s net
operating losses and tax credits that are avaitaliie carried forward. When necessary, the compalhaccount for interest
and penalties related to uncertain tax positionsaasof its provision for federal and state incaiaees. The company does not
expect the amounts of unrecognized benefits widhgfe significantly within the next twelve months.

The company is currently open to audit under theugt if limitations by the Internal Revenue Seevénd state jurisdictions
for the years ended December 31, 1999 through 2007.

9. Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Egity

On April 26, 2006, the date of the Company’s anmst@tkholders meeting, the shareholders approweddbption of an
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiarspant to which the Company has 280,000,000 slo&iasthorized capital
stock, of which 250,000,000 shares are designaedmmon stock (par value $.001 per share), ar@DB8MO0 shares are
designated as preferred stock (par value $.00%hmee) (the “Preferred Stock”).

Common Stock of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company has issuedatstanding 21,860,464 shares of common stockarshares of
Preferred Stock.

In September 2003, the Company issued 2,000,000réothe split discussed below and pre-Merger)eshaf common
stock at $0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $&fisand.

In January 2004, the Company issued 18,000,000 ¢he split discussed below and pre-Merger) shafreommon stock
at $0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $4.5amilli

In February 2004, the Company amended its artafl@scorporation to provide for the combinationtbé Company’s
common stock, par value $0.001 per share on a-4-k&sis (unless stated otherwise all other shatear share amounts
presented reflect the reverse split).

On June 6, 2005, the Company completed the 200&ri0df (see Note 2). As a result of the Mergersh#ires of the Series
A Preferred Stock were automatically converted thesnumber of shares of common stock that theehnsldf Series A
Preferred Stock would have received if their shafeSeries A Preferred Stock had been converteddommon stock
immediately prior to the Merger.

On May 3, 2006, pursuant to subscription agreenmegtiseen the Company and certain institutional @her accredited
investors, the Company completed the sale of areggte of 7,991,256 shares of the Company’s constauk at a price of
$4.63 per Share in the 2006 Offering. The totabgnaroceeds resulting from the 2006 Offering was@pmately $37 million,
before deducting selling commissions and expenses.

On February 23, 2007, pursuant to subscriptioneagests between the Company and certain institutammaother
accredited investors, the Company completed tleeafan aggregate of 5,910,049 shares of the Coyigpeommon stock at a
price of $5.225 per share in a private placemelm¢. fdtal gross proceeds resulting from the 200@1@f§ was approximately
$30.9 million, before deducting selling commissiamsl expenses.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of ZIOPHARM, Inc.

All shares of Series A Preferred Stock have beewexed into shares of common stock of the Company.
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9. Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Egity — (continued)
Preferred Stock of ZI OPHARM Oncology, Inc.

The Company’s Board of Directors are authorizedesignate any series of Preferred Stock, to fixadatdrmine the
variations in relative rights, preferences, prigéde and restrictions as between and among su@sseri

10. Stock Option Plan

The Company has adopted the 2003 Stock Option(BHariPlan”), under which the Company had reseffeedhe issuance
of 1,252,436 shares of its common stock. The Plas approved by the Company’s stockholders on Deeegih 2004. On
April 25, 2007 and April 26, 2006, the date of empany’s annual stockholders meetings, the Conipatgckholders
approved amendments to the Plan increasing thiestodees reserved by 2,000,000 and 750,000 shrasgsectively, for a total
of 4,002,436 shares.

As of December 31, 2008 there were 2,738,089 shhatsre issuable under its 2003 Stock Option B exercise of
outstanding options to purchase common stock. A3eaember 31, 2008, the Company had outstandingrapissued to its
employees to purchase up to 2,252,665 shares @dhgany’s common stock, to its directors to pusehap to 480,174 shares
of the Company’s common stock, as well as optiorsohsultants in connection with services rendévgalirchase up to 5,250
shares of the Company’s common stock. In Decemb@8,%5,000 options were granted to a consultanwastratably over a
two-year period, contingent upon performance aireitconsulting services during that time. The Comydzad estimated the
fair value of the 5,000 options issued to the ctiastiusing the Black-Scholes model, using an assursk-free rate of 1.52 %,
and expected life of 5 years, volatility of 99%datividend yield of 0%. The options issued to tbasultant were valued at $3
thousand and are recorded as a pro-rata chargenpensation expense over the option’s two-yeainggeriod which began
on December 3, 2008.The Company had estimatecihealue of the remaining 250 options issued ¢omsultant in 2004
using the Black-Scholes model, using an assumksrae rate of 4.23%, and expected life of 10 yeaotatility of 134%, and
dividend yield of 0%. The options issued to thestdtant were valued at $1 thousand and were redasl@ charge to
compensation expense in December 2004.

Currently, stock options are granted with an exergrice equal to the closing market price of tben@any’s common stock
on the day before the date of grant. Stock optioresnployees generally vest ratably over threesyaad have contractual
terms of ten years. Stock options to directors galyevest ratably over two or three years and haw@ractual terms of ten
years. 359,188 options granted, in 2006, to thedo&Directors and some members of managemered@simediately. Stock
options are valued using the Black-Scholes optalnation method and compensation is recognizeddbasesuch fair value
over the period of vesting on a straight-line babee Company has also reserved an aggregate&#3tadditional shares for
issuance under options granted outside of the Zd0& Option Plan. The options were granted to Thizersity of Texas M.
D. Anderson Cancer Center and DEKK-Tec, Inc. (seeeN — Commitments and Contingencies). Duringyéer ended
December 31, 2007, the Company recorded a $12@#ndustock compensation expense in connectionthétiCompany
achieving a predetermined development milestonghthiggered the vesting of 25,111 of the optigrnented outside of the
2003 Stock Option Plan. The 25,111 options wereoised on August 13, 2007. Proceeds from this ésemmounted to
$50.22 and the intrinsic value of these optionsamed to $104 thousand.

Proceeds from the 2008, 2007, and 2006 exercisearaed to $0, $36 thousand, and $25 thousand risglgc The
intrinsic value of these options amounted to $@ $®usand, and $8 thousand for years ended Dece&hp2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively.
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10. Stock Option Plan — (continued)
Transactions under the Plan for the years endingeiber 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 were as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Number of Average Contractual Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price  Term (Years) Intrinsic Value

(In Thousands, Except Share and per Share Data)

Outstanding, January 1, 2006 973,63¢ $ 2.5¢

Granted 988,18 5.4Z

Exercised (5,845 4.31

Cancelled (42,939 4.5C

Outstanding, December 31, 2006 1,913,03! 3.9t

Granted 1,101,25! 3.65

Exercised (20,905 1.7¢C

Cancelled (196,38() 4.3¢€

Outstanding, December 31, 2007 2,797,001 3.81

Granted 384,00( 1.64

Exercised — —

Cancelled (442,91) 4.31

Outstanding, December 31, 2008 2,738,08 % 3.4: 766 $ 134
Options exercisable, December 31, 20 1,753,14  $ 3.62 6.91 $ 134
Options available for future grants 597,72¢

At December 31, 2008, total unrecognized compensatsts related to non-vested stock options caudstg amounted to
$1.6 million. The cost is expected to be recognizesr a weighted-average period of 1.36 years.

Restricted Stock

In January 2008, the Company issued 100,000 sbérestricted stock to one employee which vestilgtaver a three-year
period. Also, in December 2008, the Company is88§J500 shares of restricted stock to employee®9ar@D0 shares of
restricted stock to its board of directors, allndfich vest in one year. In 2007, the Company issastiicted stock to several
employees which will vest entirely on DecemberdQ&and 2007, respectively. During the year endeceihber 31, 2008 and
2007, $289 thousand and $9 thousand of compengatjsense was recognized, respectively. A summatiyeo$tatus of non-
vested restricted stock as of December 31, 2002@6d is as follows:

Weighted-Average

Number of Grant Date Fair
Shares Value

Non-vested, December 31, 2006 — —
Granted 70,00( 2.7¢
Vested — —
Cancelled — —
Outstanding, December 31, 2007 70,00( 2.7¢
Granted 586,50( 0.8:
Vested (45,000 2.7¢
Cancelled (25,000 2.7:

Outstanding, December 31, 2008 586,50( $ 1.1t
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10. Stock Option Plan — (continued)

As of December 31, 2008, there was $582 thousatatalfunrecognized stock-based compensation erpeteted to non-
vested restricted stock arrangements granted uhde&003 Plan. The expense is expected to be rez@mbaver a weighted-
average period of 1.27 years.

11. Warrants

During 2004, the Company issued warrants to pueds21 shares of the Company’s common stockranfaunt as
compensation for services rendered in connectit er entering into an option agreement with SeutlResearch Institute.
In connection with the warrants issued, the Compangrded a charge of $251 thousand to generahdmihistrative expense.
The Company has estimated the fair value of sutibrmpusing the Black-Scholes model, using an assunisk-free rate of
3.93%, and expected life of 7 years, volatilityl84% and dividend yield of 0%.

In 2005, the Company also issued performance wartarpurchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s constock for
services to be rendered to its investor relati@mmsultant as compensation. In connection with therant issuance 12,500
shares are exercisable immediately and the Comeenoyded a charge of $45 thousand to general anéhedrative expense in
the year ended December 31, 2005. The Companystiasaéed the fair value of such options using tkecB-Scholes model,
using an assumed risk-free rate of 4.39%, an eggdife of 5 years, volatility of 109%, and dividegield of 0%. The
remaining 37,500 warrants were cancelled in the gaded December 31, 2006 due to performance algeatot being
obtained at the expiration of agreement.

In connection with the 2005 Offering completed umd 2005, the Company compensated Paramount, patagent for
the Offering, or its affiliates for its servicegdhigh the payment of placement warrants to acaiiieg794 (837,956 — pre-
Merger) shares of Series A Preferred Stock (theiéSe\ Stock Warrants”), exercisable for a peridéd gears at a per-share
exercise price equal to 110% of the price per skaletin the 2005 Offering. The Company valuedSkees A Stock Warrants
using the Black-Scholes model and recorded a ct&r§ig.7 million against additional paid-in capithhe Company estimated
the fair value of the Series A Stock Warrants usirgBlack-Scholes model, using an assumed risk+fee of 3.93% and
expected life of 7 years, volatility of 134% andidend yield of 0%.

In connection with the 2006 Offering completed oay\8, 2006, the Company issued warrants to purch@8¢,392 shares
of common stock to investors and 799,126 warranfgitchase common stock to the 2006 Placement Ageat their
designees. The Company estimated the fair valtigeofvarrants at $9.6 million and $3.5 million, resfively, using the Black-
Scholes model, using an assumed risk-free rateddPb and an expected life of 5 and 7 years, valatf 100% and a dividend
yield of 0%. The fair value of the warrants wasorgled as a permanent component of shareholdergyequ

On February 23, 2007, as part of the 2007 Offeting,Company issued warrants to purchase 1,183l@dres of common
stock to investors and 177,302 warrants to purchasemon stock to the 2007 Placement Agents, tlesigtiees and a
previously-engaged financial consultant. The Comgpesiimated the fair value of the warrants at $dillion and $709
thousand respectively, using the Black-Scholes modeng an assumed risk-free rate of 4.71% anexpected life of 5 years,
volatility of 93% and a dividend yield of 0%. Thairfvalue of the warrants was recorded as a pemtaoeponent of
shareholder’s equity.

No warrants were issued or exercised in the yedingrDecember 31, 2008.
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11. Warrants — (continued)

The following is a summary of warrants outstandasgpf December 31, 2008.

Number of
Warrants Issued in Connection With Exercise Price Expiration Date

4.7¢ December 23, 2011
4.7¢ May 31, 2012

4.7¢ September 14, 2010
5.5¢€ May 3, 2011

5.0¢ May 3, 2013

5.7t February 23, 2012
5.7t February 23, 2012

62,62 Services performed
408,70: Placement warrants for services performe:
12,50( Services performed
2,397,39: Investor warrants
799,12¢ Placement warrants for services performei

1,182,01! Investor warrants

LT R - R - - R -

177,30: Placement warrants for services performei
5,039,65!

12. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a qualified 401(k) Retirerféam (the “Plan”) under which employees are alloteedontribute
certain percentages of their pay, up to the maximliowed under Section 401(k) of the Internal Raxe@ode. The Company
may make contributions to these plans at its digsreThe Company contributed approximately $1i8.8and to this plan
during the year ending December 31, 2008. No dmuiions were made in the years ended Decembel0BY, &rd 2006.
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K filed September 19, 2005).
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3.4 Bylaws, as amended to date (incorporated by referemExhibit 3.3 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K
filed September 19, 2005).
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Registration Statement on Form SB-2 [SEC File NB3-329020] filed October 14, 2005).
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Warrant for the Purchase of Shares of common statdd December 23, 2004. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Regiin Statement on Form SB-2 [SEC File No. 333-
129020] filed October 14, 2005).

Option for the Purchase of common stock dated @cttb, 2004 and issued to DEKK-Tec, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to thgiReant's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed
(SEC File No. 000-32353) March 20, 2006).

Form of Option for the Purchase of Shares of comstook dated August 30, 2004 and issued to
The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Cer{iecorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.¢
the Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB fi[8&C File No. 000-32353] March 20, 2006).

Schedule identifying material terms of Optionstfug Purchase of Shares of common stock in the
form filed as Exhibit 4.6 to this Report. (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registsant’
Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed [SEC File No0882353] March 20, 2006).

Form of common stock Purchase Warrant issued tstovs in connection with ZIOPHARM
Oncology, Inc. 2006 private placement (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report of Form 8-K filed May 3, 2006).

Form of common stock Purchase Warrant issued t®epilant agents in connection with
ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc. 2006 private placement @rmorated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
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Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issué@av&stors in connection with ZIOPHARM
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[SEC File No. 333-129020] filed October 14, 2005).
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Form 8-K filed December 26, 2007).
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Lewis.

10.7 Employment Agreement dated July 21, 2004, betwkerrRegistrant and Richard Bagley
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to tlegRtrant’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2
[SEC File No. 333-129020] filed October 14, 2005).
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

As independent registered public accountants, weblyeconsent to the incorporation by referenceusfreport dated March 16, 20
relating to the financial statements of ZIOPHARMdDIogy, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 fanthe three year period ended
December 31, 2008, and from September 9, 2003 (dateeption) through December 31, 2008, and ltoedérences to our Firm, included in
or made part of this Form 10-K, into the Compapyé&viously filed Registration Statements on Forr& (Gile Nos. 333-129884, 3383428(
and 333-142701) and Forms S-3 (File Nos. 333-129888-134279 and 333-141014).

VITALE, CATURANO & COMPANY, P.C.

Boston, Massachusetts
March 23, 2009



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

[, Jonathan Lewis, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtaie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, aiher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange Act Ru
13e15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresauesed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed unt
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting artle preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsdtsclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and promes] as of the end of the period covered by #y®nt based on such evaluati
and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registranourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, ol
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thewedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessgethe design or operation of internal controéwofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesimagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrang’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 23, 2009

/s/ Jonathan Lewi

Jonathan Lewis, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Richard Bagley, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of ZIOPHARM Oncology, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtaie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, aiher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange Act Ru
13e15(f) and 15(c-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresauesed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed unt
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting artle preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsdtsclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and promes] as of the end of the period covered by #y®nt based on such evaluati
and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registranourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, ol
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thewedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessgethe design or operation of internal controéwofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesimagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrang’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 23, 2009

/sl Richard E. Bagle

Richard E. Bagley, President and Chief Financidicerf
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ZIOPHARM €xtogy, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thear ended December
31, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchabgmmission on the date hereof (the “Report”)phathan Lewis, Principal Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 WL SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly prets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand result of operations of
the Company

/s/ Jonathan Lewi

Jonathan Lewis, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

March 23, 200¢




Exhibit 32.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of ZIOPHARM €xtogy, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thear ended December
31, 2008, as filed with the Securities and ExchaBgmmission on the date hereof (the “Report”),icHard Bagley, Principal Financial

Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 WL SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly prets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand result of operations of
the Company

/sl Richard E. Bagle

Richard E. Bagley, President and Chief Financidicef
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
March 23, 200¢




